
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

Plaintiff Anand’s Motion For Reconsideration of Denial of Proposed Amended Complaint 

Pursuant To Rule 54(b)  

Plaintiff Anand moves that the Court reconsider Plaintiff Anand’s motion to allow Plaintiff Anand’s 

amended Complaint (ECF 31), pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 54(b) which provides that “any 

order…that adjudicates fewer than all the claims or the rights and liabilities of fewer than all the parties…may 

be revised at any time before the entry of a judgement adjudicating all the claims and all the parties’ rights and 

liabilities.” Fed. R. Civ. Pro. 54(b).  Plaintiff respectfully requested Defendants support in this 54(b) motion but 

was opposed by Defendants. 

“The Court has broad discretion to hear a motion for reconsideration brought under Rule 54(b).” Flythe 

v. D.C., 4 F. Supp. 3d 216, 218 (D.D.C. 2014)(quoting Isse v. Am. Univ., 544 F. Supp. 2d 25, 29 (D.D.C. 2008)). 

“[T]his jurisdiction has established that reconsideration is appropriate ‘as justice requires.’” Lyles v. District of 

Columbia, 65 F. Supp. 3d 181, 188 (D.D.C. 2014)(quoting Cobell v. Norton, 355 F. Supp. 2d 531, 539 (D.D.C. 

2005)).  In general, “a court will grant a motion for consideration of an interlocutory order only when the 

movant demonstrates: (1) an intervening change in the law; (2) the discovery of new evidence not previously 

available; or (3) a clear error in the first order.” Stewart v. Panetta, 826 F. Supp. 2d 176, 177 (D.D.C. 2011)

(quoting Zeigler v. Potter, 555 F.Supp.2d 126,129 (D.D.C. 2008)). 
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Plaintiff Anand has identified new structural issues pertaining to the Defendants actions nationwide.  

Defendants, DEA and HHS, are federal agencies who have combined investigative prosecutorial function, 

administrative and decision making functions.  Dr. Mark Ibsen, a physician in Montana, with the assistance of 

his attorney John P. Flannery Esq. the author of the book Pain in America, has provided Plaintiff Anand a 

notarized affidavit (Exhibit 41) specifically to provide to this Court evidence of structural issues pertaining to 

Defendants actions nationwide that are also addressed in Plaintiff Anand’s amended Complaint.  Under Withrow 

v. Larkin, 421 U.S. 35 (1075): combined investigative prosecutorial function and decision making process is no 

structural bias, unless pecuniary gain, under Gibson v. Berryhill, 411 U.S. 564 (1073)(where a state optometrist 

board violated due process due to its structural bias, the board was full of practicing optometrists whose 

earnings might decrease if there were more competing optometrists).  

Pursuant to federal criminal indictments of Plaintiff Anand as well as other healthcare providers 

nationwide, the DEA and HHS seek substantial restitution, well above any potential actual monetary harm. 

Defendants, DEA and HHS, have combined investigative prosecutorial functions and decision making functions 

while also having financial stakes, including proprietary gain, in the conviction of physicians, pharmacists, 

healthcare providers. Blue Cross Blue Shield of Michigan (BCBSMMIC), Independence Blue Cross (IBC), 

Amerihealth Caritas (AC), and Blue Cross Blue Shield Association (BCBSA), as agents of the government 

under Health Care Fraud Prevention Partnership (HFPP) contract and by conduct during criminal investigations, 

have financial stakes and proprietary gain in the conviction of physicians, pharmacists, healthcare providers, 

including Plaintiff Anand.  

IBC, BCBSA, AC, BCBSMMIC, HFPP earnings would decrease if more pain or substance use disorder 

specialists practice medicine, saw more patients, and thus billed the health insurers for more medical services.  

IBC, BCBSA, AC, BCBSMMIC, and HFPP actively engage in the exclusion of non-preferred healthcare 

providers in favor of preferred healthcare providers within their “most favored” facilitated health networks 

(FHN).  Thus a structural bias exists between the investigative, administrative, prosecutorial functions and 

decision making functions of the DEA, HHS, IBC, BCBSA, AC, BCBSMMIC and HFPP.  The presence of the 

structural bias compels the release of the impermissible collection of information pursuant to Freedom of 

Information Act (FOIA) as argued in Plaintiff Anand’s amended Complaint.  

Plaintiff Anand requests that the Court consider structural bias as well as additional legal issues which 

were identified by Plaintiffs and Intervenors and added in Plaintiff Anand’s amended Complaint so to confirm 

identified or suspected: a) Brady violations, b) defective search warrants in violation of Tumey v Ohio, c) 

unjustifiable reliance on a defective “Pill-Mill” pre-crime software created by Office of Inspector General, Blue 
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Cross Blue Shield, and Qlarant Health Integrity that misrepresents general causation for a finding in support of 

specific causation for  probable cause of criminal intent with reckless disregard for the mental state of the doctor 

or the disease state of the patient, d) classification schemes of targeted healthcare providers based on race, 

nation of origin, and level of wealth or assets in violation of the Equal Protection Clause necessitating strict 

scrutiny judicial review, e) BCBSMMIC, BCBSA, IBC, AC, and HFPP private entities engaging in 

unconstitutional acts as State Actors with liability under §1983, Bivens, Monell, and the International Criminal 

Court, f) pecuniary gain under a theory and practice of substantial restitution well beyond actual non-mitigated 

damages (also in violation of 13th U.S. Constitutional Amendment) well documented in federal indictments 

against healthcare providers, g) associations including BCBSMMIC, BCBSA, IBC, AC, and HFPP  working in 

concert to influence the price of interstate health insurance across state lines (in violation of Sherman and 

Clayton Acts and Federal Trade Commission Law), h) violations of Mental Health Parity and Addiction Equity 

Act of 2008 (MHPAEA) by BCBSMMIC, BCBSA, IBC, AC, and HFPP private entities.  

The information sought by Plaintiff Anand under the Freedom of Information Act and his proposed 

Amended Complaint, touches upon medicine, criminal justice, race and nation of origin, artificial intelligence, 

computerized pre-crime algorithms, public-private healthcare payor partnerships, Blue Cross Blue Shield’s 

“holy war” and racial targeting of physicians who prescribe controlled substances, and most importantly the 

opioid epidemic currently plaguing the United States.  The requested information encompasses the Pill Mill 

Doctor Project which includes but is not limited to data analytics algorithms used in the Healthcare Fraud 

Preventive Partnership (HFPP), Blue Cross Blue Shield Association (BCBSA), General Dynamics Information 

Technology (GDIT) Trusted Third Party (TTP), Qlarant NBI Medic in express partnership with the Drug 

Enforcement Agency/Consumer Protection Branch/US Attorney’s Office (USAO)/U.S. Department of Justice 

(USDOJ).   

Plaintiff Neil Anand’s proposed Amended Complaint and subsequent ongoing litigation within this 

Court specifically seeks the identification of all companies and individuals involved in computerized algorithms 

of identified International Classification of Disease (ICD) and Current Procedural Terminology (CPT) codes in 

the use of patient or physician targeting algorithms by the Defendants as well as all data and documents of the 

Defendants concerning the identities of past and/or present, physicians that have been arrested or, prosecuted 

both civilly and criminally, or convicted for violations of the Controlled Substance Act; all data and documents 

by Defendants concerning the identities of past and/or present, physicians that have been arrested or, prosecuted 

 3



both civilly and criminally, or convicted for violations of 18 U.S. Code § 1347- Health Care Fraud; the 

information pertaining to the age, race, gender, practice type, financial assets recovered, of physicians 

prosecuted both civilly and criminally by Defendants; all information pertaining to NBI Qlarant or Health and 

Human Services algorithms developed in collaboration with Defendants; the identities of the supervisory Health 

and Human Services individuals who are “approvers” of Qlarant NBI Medic’s statistically significant model 

results as pertaining to civil and criminal prosecutions; all data and documents concerning “bad actor” 

physicians identified via predictive “pre-crime” algorithms or from referral by the Defendants of known “bad 

actor” physicians; all data, documents or lists of HFPP issued provider alerts to alert other HFPP Members or 

Defendants about flagged physician providers; all documents pertaining to indicators, data points or analysis 

performed on patient claims records by Defendants, special investigative units (SIUs), BCBSA, GDIT, or HFPP 

to allow tracking the movements of those known or suspected of abusing opioids or having an opioid use 

disorder including the Overutilization Monitoring System (OMS) or Medicare Advantage Prescription System 

(MARx) which identifies high opioid utilizers; the identification and names of all physicians or patients that are 

marked by Defendants, Blue Cross Blue Shield Association, GDIT, HFPP or its champion partners with a digital 

mark on a list (i.e. list of patients or physicians marked with a digital “Scarlet Letter”); all dates and referrals 

and communications between Blue Cross Blue Shield Association, Blue Cross Blue Shield Franchises, 

Independence Blue Cross, Blue Cross Blue Shield of Michigan and/ or the Champion Partners concerning 

physician bad actors, physicians who commit healthcare fraud, physicians who are drug dealing or identified 

“most likely” drug seeking patients to the Defendants etc.; all information and documents pertaining to 

comprehensive end-to-end protocol for complex and heterogeneous data characterization, data manipulation, 

data processing, data cleaning, data analysis and data validation by Defendants, HFPP, GDIT Trust Third Party, 

Qlarant NBI Medic or the Pill Mill Doctor Project; NBI Medic Contractor, Qlarant’s, manner and methods of 

specialized data analysis which helps law enforcement or Defendants locate buried targets and “speed 

convictions”; NBI Medic Contractor, Qlarant’s, manner and methods of mining for trends & targets for 

“Coordinating for Conviction” and for the “Strength of Convictions” for Defendants; NBI Medic Contractor, 

Qlarant’s, manner and methods of “Pre-seizure identification of the most likely drug-seeking patients” for 

Defendants; NBI Medic Contractor, Qlarant’s, manner and methods of Pre-indictment targeting and 

categorization of a physician’s property records, tracing of physician’s ownership/assets, and physician’s 

financial filings for purposes of maximizing civil or criminal asset forfeiture and restitution for Defendants; 

NBI Medic Contractor, Qlarant’s, manner and methods of Customized Program Options: where Qlarant can 

create a program around specific needs in each respective region giving the USDOJ or US Attorney’s Office 

 4



“great latitude to build upon specific issues known in their area based upon experiences and knowledge of the 

potential bad actors” (i.e. physicians). 

Plaintiff Anand’s Necessity in Seeking an Amended Complaint 

Defendants HHS and DEA notified this District Court and Hon. Judge Kotelly that Plaintiff Anand is 

currently facing federal felony charges relating to health care fraud and controlled substances in United States v. 

Anand, Crim. A. No. 19-0518 (E.D. Pa.). The Defendants notified this Court that the indictment against Plaintiff 

Anand asserts, inter alia, that Plaintiff Neil Anand illegally prescribed and distributed various commonly abused 

opioids.  The U.S. Department of Justice has the burden of proof, at a jury trial, to prove beyond a reasonable 

doubt, that each of the criminally indicted physicians actually committed all the elements of the alleged crimes, 

in the absence of justifications or excuses.   

Plaintiff Anand seeks information from the Defendants directly relating to his original FOIA requests, 

subsequent FOIA requests, his original Complaint, and his amended Complaint for impeachment purposes in his 

upcoming criminal trial.  Plaintiff Anand is also presumed innocent until proven guilty, and thus has elevated 

status to obtain FOIA information as identified in his amended Complaint. Plaintiff Anand represents to the 

Court that the outcome of criminal proceedings for Plaintiff Anand would be different without the release of the 

information from Defendants as requested by Neil Anand via the amended Complaint.  Plaintiff Anand further 

represents to the Court that the refusal of the Defendants to release the information as identified within the 

amended Complaint would lead to a finding of cumulative error and that Defendant’s denial of release of the 

information requested in an expedited rolling process will be prejudicial to Anand in his upcoming criminal trial 

United States v. Anand, Crim. A. No. 19-0518 (E.D. Pa.).   The failure of Defendants to release the requested 

FOIA information as requested within Plaintiff Anand’s amended Complaint will reduce the chance of Anand to 

defend each element of the charged crime in United States v. Anand, Crim. A. No. 19-0518 (E.D. Pa.).  The 

Defendants error and failure to process Plaintiff Neil Anand’s subsequent FOIA requests in an expedited rolling 

process, which are also requested within Plaintiff Anand’s amended Complaint, would not be harmless.   

Additionally, the FOIA information requested within Plaintiff Anand’s amended Complaint would be critical 

to other physicians facing allegations of improper prescribing and could alter the outcome of their own criminal 

proceedings by being better informed when taking a plea bargain, proceeding to a jury trial, or if proceeding to 

trial, deciding on the optimum trial strategy.  The lack of production of the FOIA requests in Plaintiff Anand’s 

amended Complaint in an expedited manner will prejudice criminal defendant physicians in three ways: 

"oppressive pretrial incarceration, anxiety and concern caused by the delay, and an impaired 
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defense." ( Foster, 1997 ND 8, ¶ 12, 560 N.W.2d 194 ).  Furthermore, significant anxiety and concern will be 

caused to other pain specialists or substance abuse doctors who are uncertain as to the exact proscribed 

behaviors involving controlled substances in the treatment of patients.   

Plaintiff Anand alleges that Defendants in joint partnership with Healthcare Fraud Preventive Partnership 

(HFPP), General Dynamics Information Technology (GDIT), Qlarant, Blue Cross Blue Shield Association and 

the Blue Cross Blue Shield Member Franchises engage in the policing of healthcare fraud and controlled 

substance diversion etc.  The aforementioned joint partnership share electronic databases of information, and 

where the evidence is held by a single member, State Actor, or “law enforcement” arm of a single partner, that 

knowledge should be imputed to the prosecution broadly and such information is subject to FOIA or Privacy 

Act Requests.   

Plaintiff Anand requests the Court to reconsider Granting his amended Complaint as well as expedited and 

rolling disclosure of his FOIA requests for criminal trial preparation in United States v. Anand, Crim. A. No. 

19-0518 (E.D. Pa.).  Plaintiff Anand’s upcoming criminal trial mandates expedited FOIA disclosure under 

Freeman v. Dep't of Justice, No. 92-0557 (D.D.C. Oct. 2, 1992) ("exceptional circumstances"/"due diligence": 

vacates, in part, court's May 22, 1992 order; because of the limited scope of plaintiff's FOIA request and 

because plaintiff has demonstrated that the information will assist him in his defense against state criminal 

charges for securities fraud where discovery of these records would not be available, orders the defendant to 

comply with plaintiff's FOIA request by December 31, 1992; and also by that date, to file a Vaughn Index of 

those documents or document portions for which it invokes exemptions).   

Plaintiff Anand’s upcoming criminal trial mandates expedited FOIA disclosure under Brady [( Brady v. 

Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S.Ct. 1194, 10 L.Ed.2d 215 (1963) ].  The prosecution team in United States v. 

Anand, Crim. A. No. 19-0518 (E.D. Pa.) must disclose, upon request, evidence that is material either to guilt or 

to punishment. Gilliam v. Sec'y for the Dep't of Corrections, 480 F.3d 1027, 1032 (11th Cir. 2007).  Such 

evidence is material only if "there is a reasonable probability that, had the evidence been disclosed to the 

defense, the result of the proceeding would have been different."  United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667, 682, 

105 S.Ct. 3375 3383, 87 L.Ed.2d 481 (1985). Brady requires disclosure of material impeachment evidence as 

well as material exculpatory evidence. Flores v. Satz, 137 F.3d 1275, 1278 (11th Cir. 1998).”   Mize v. Hall, 532 

F.3d 1184 (11th Cir. 2008).  A Government's failure to disclose the requested Brady information that a 

respondent could have used to conduct an effective cross-examination impairs a respondent's right to confront 

adverse witnesses. The court noted: "In Davis v. Alaska, . . . the Supreme Court held that the denial of the 'right 
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of effective cross-examination' was "constitutional error of the first magnitude" requiring automatic reversal." 

719 F.2d, at 1464 (quoting Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308, 318, 94 S.Ct. 1105 1111, 39 L.Ed.2d 347 (1974). 

Impeachment evidence need not be exculpatory in the traditional sense of tending to negate guilt. Rather, 

such material deals with the credibility of witnesses.  Plaintiff Anand’s amended Complaint contains FOIA 

requests that seek critical documents (that are not attorney client privileged documents and are thus subject to 

public production pursuant to FOIA) as the documents constitute compulsory and timely materials that can not 

be denied to physician criminal defendants without violating the due process of criminal trials.  See United 

States v. Presser, 844 F 2d 1275, 1283 (6th Cir 1988).  Furthermore, Fed. R. Crim. P. 16 (a)(1)(E)(i)-(iii) 

mandates disclosure of compulsory and timely materials “in time for its effective use at trial”. The Supreme 

Court has defined impeachment material as `evidence favorable to an accused . . . so that, if disclosed and use 

effectively, it may make the difference between conviction and acquittal.' United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 

[667], 105 S.Ct. 3375, 3380 [ 87 L.Ed.2d 481] (1985).  

Defendants and Their Joint Enterprise With Private Corporate Partners Recklessly or Negligently 

Violate the Controlled Substances Act 

As identified within the allegations of Plaintiff Anand’s amended Complaint, Defendants DEA and HHS 

and their partners Qlarant, GDIT, BCBSA, IBC, AC and the private health insurers of HFPP are not relieved of 

the consequences of a material misrepresentation by lack of knowledge especially when the means of 

ascertaining truthfulness are available, which exists through the private insurers’ prior authorization system and 

through data analytics of mass collections of patients private health information stored in computerized 

databases throughout the Defendants’ joint enterprise. Even without a “duty” the joint enterprises’ conduct to 

not share such knowledge with the public would constitute a conscious purpose to having avoided learning the 

truth. See United States v. West, 666 F.2d 16, 19 (2d Cir. 1981); United States v. Clearfield, 358 F. Supp. 564, 

574 (E.D. Pa. 1973).   

Inexplicably, the members of the joint enterprise have unwittingly through public announcements, 

advertised either knowingly, willfully, or recklessly to have violated the Controlled Substance Act by 

authorizing and/or paying for controlled substances to patients already identified as “risky” by their own 

computer algorithms.  The private insurers of the HFPP cartel have publicly announced the ability to identify 

risk of foreseeable harm to their patient Members, failed to control the foreseeable harm with their prior 

authorization system and then intentionally paid for the controlled substances to be issued to their “risky” 
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patient Members and allow diversion of controlled substances into the joint enterprises’ respective communities 

causing mass death and harm to U.S. Citizens.   

The members of the joint enterprise either knowingly, willfully, or recklessly violated the Controlled 

Substances Act and 42 C.F.R. Part 2 to pursue an alternative, return on investment (ROI) model.  The Members 

of the joint enterprise seek profits above human life.  The Defendants utilize Qlarant, HFPP, GDIT artificial 

intelligence computers and/or computerized databases to Classify/Mis-Classify and Identify/Mis-Identify 

legitimate patients as drug seekers and legitimate physicians as drug dealers.  Qlarant in concert with the HFPP 

partnership has invented a data analytics program which intentionally misclassifies non-white colored 

physicians. old physicians, or wealthy physicians among other providers who are engaged in the treatment of 

addiction and/or chronic pain, as drug dealers.   

Defendants, Blue Cross Blue Shield and Qlarant “physician conviction engines”, classify physicians as 

drug dealers for appropriation of private property under U.S. civil and criminal asset forfeiture and restitution 

law.  A system of private-public cooperation between Defendants, HFPP, DEA, CMS Medicare and HHS 

Medicare/ DEA contractor, Qlarant Health Integrity, exists for the sole purpose of appropriating non-white, 

colored, older physicians’ property by purposely mislabeling them and classifying them as “drug dealers” 

whereupon the physicians’ property can be taken via civil or criminal asset forfeiture or restitution; this is 

patently an unconstitutional process that was not intended by the Founding Fathers of the United States.  The 

current use of computer algorithms in the classification of human beings by analyzing financial and property 

records for the sole purpose of confiscating private property violates United States Constitutional Law and/or 

International Law.  Plaintiff Anand alleges in his amended Complaint that these U.S Executive Branch data 

analytics programs and civil and criminal asset forfeiture schemes are a significant and severe violation of the 

Constitutional rights (a clear violation of the 13th U.S. Constitutional Amendment) of US citizens requiring 

expedited disclosure pursuant to FOIA.   

“People should not be punished merely for being wealthy, just as they should not be punished merely for 

being poor, but if someone profited from a crime, then the fruits of their crime is fair game to show their guilt 

and motive.”  The Defendants algorithms are utilized by the USDOJ prejudicially by engaging in a continuous 

course of conduct designed to equate wealth with wrongdoing and to appeal to the potential bias of not-so-

wealthy jurors against wealthy physician defendants.  See generally United States v Stahl, 616 F 2d 30, 31-32 

(2d Cir 1980); see also United States v Holmes, 2021 WL 2044470 **5-6 (ND Cal 2021) where the Government 

sought to defend the tenor of remarks made in summation by stating that it "properly argued to the jury the 

logical inference that a man whose total life is geared to make money in real estate would also, in all likelihood, 
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be driven by greed to pay the $10,000 bribe in order not to pay substantial monies in taxes." "It impermissibly 

equates success, affluence and a single minded occupation with one's business affairs with greed and 

corruption." These examples indicate the nature of the prosecutor's trial strategy — a strategy that  obviously 

included a persistent appeal to class prejudice. Because such appeals are improper and have no place in a court 

room, United States v. Socony-Vacuum Oil Co., 310 U.S. 150, 239-40, 60 S.Ct. 811, 84 L.Ed. 1129 (1940); New 

York Central R. Co. v. Johnson, 279 U.S. 310, 319, 49 S.Ct. 300, 73 L.Ed. 706 (1929); Koufakis v. Carvel, 425 

F.2d 892, 900-905 (2d Cir. 1970); Benham v. United States, 215 F.2d 472, 473-75 (5th Cir. 1954); Drasner v. 

Thomson McKinnon Securities, Inc., 433 F.Supp. 485, 489-91 (S.D.N.Y. 1977) 

As identified within his amended Complaint the Defendants via Qlarant’s artificial intelligence computer 

is forcing U.S. physicians to practice medicine according to HHS and DEA’s own ‘perverted’ medical standards, 

under threats of digitally “marking” unwilling or uncomplying physicians into the National Practitioner Data 

Bank or HFPP insurer databases (the digital database marking which is ideologically equivalent to a “Scarlet 

Letter” or a NAZI “Star of David”).  Plaintiff Anand alleges that the HFPP insurers engage in pursuing or 

engineering of false or contrived negative, “Scarlet Letter”, National Practitioner Data Bank Reports and/or 

felony convictions for the permanent exclusion of and disenfranchisement of physicians from the treatment of 

HHS CMS Medicare beneficiaries among other U.S. patients.   

Qlarant Health Integrity and Blue Cross Blue Shield has purposely used this scheme as State Actors in 

partnership with HHS Medicare, DEA and USDOJ which are governmental organizations of the U.S. Executive 

Branch that act as a shield for HFPP private insurers own illegal actions, allowing intentional violations of 

physicians or their patients Constitutional Rights in their interactions and treatments of patients including 

unlawful violations of the: 1st U.S. Constitutional Amendment Freedom of Association; 4th U.S. Constitutional 

Amendment; 5th U.S. Constitutional Amendment; 14th U.S. Constitutional Amendment Equal Protection Clause; 

Article I, Section 10, Clause 1 U.S. Constitution Contract Clause; Article 1, Section 8, Clause 3 of the U.S. 

Constitution; Due Process Rights of 14th Constitutional Amendment. The private HFPP health insurers 

engage in a process of regulatory capture complicit with USDOJ, HHS and DEA which has created a suspect 

class comprising of physicians who treat patients afflicted with tissue damage, chronic pain, and/or addiction. 

The data mining, data analysis, pre-crime analysis, and referrals for criminal indictment are statutory violations 

of 42 CFR Part 2, American Disability Act, Rehabilitation Act of 1973, HIPAA Health Insurance Portability and 

Accountability Act (“HIPAA”) Privacy and Non-discrimination Rules, violations of Constitutional 4th, 5th & 14th 

Amendments, and violations of the Controlled Substance Act 802.56 (C). 
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Plaintiff Anand has alleged with his proposed amended Complaint to this Court and Anand v. 

Independence Blue Cross (20-6246 (E.D. Pa.)), that the Blue Cross Blue Shield companies, function as State 

Actors, which are large healthcare payor monopolies and monopsonies known to specifically target colored 

black and brown skinned physicians who refuse to kowtow to their unreasonable demands.  Plaintiff Anand and 

numerous other physicians and healthcare providers across the United States have identified that the Blue Cross 

Blue Shield companies act in bad faith against physicians and retaliate against physicians by inducing criminal 

proceedings against them.  Holmgren, 976 F.2d at 577 (“In a bad faith insurance claim settlement case, the 

“‘strategy, mental impressions and opinion of [the insurer’s] agents concerning the handling of the claim are 

directly at issue.’”) (quoting Reavis v. Metro. Prop. & Liab. Ins. Co., 117 F.R.D. 160, 164 (S.D. Cal. 1987)); 

Handgards, Inc. v. Johnson & Johnson, 413 F. Supp. 926, 931 (N.D. Cal. 1976) (“The principal issue in the case 

at bar is the good faith of the defendants in instituting and maintaining the prior patent litigation against 

plaintiff.”); United States v. McGrawHill Companies, Inc., No. 13-CV-00779, 2014 WL 8662657, at *6 (C.D. 

Cal. Sept. 25, 2014) (“[Defendant’s] most salient defense is that the Government improperly selected it for 

prosecution in an effort to retaliate[.]”).  See Watkins v. United States, 354 U.S. 178, 205–06 (1957) (“An 

excessively broad charter, like that of the House Un-American Activities Committee, places the courts in an 

untenable position if they are to strike a balance between the public need for a particular interrogation [sic] and 

the right of citizens to carry on their affairs free from unnecessary governmental interference.”).  

Plaintiff Anand’s amended Complaint alleges that the HFPP public-private healthcare payor joint 

enterprise develops guidelines and computer algorithms for the purposes of inducing the USDOJ to mass arrest, 

indict and convict pain management physicians and/or substance abuse treatment doctors.  HHS, DEA, and 

USDOJ via Qlarant Health Integrity and Blue Cross Blue Shield and their artificial intelligence computer 

programs are forcing ideological conformity with regards to medical treatments upon U.S. citizens with respect 

to the use of controlled substances in the treatment of disease, in contravention of the First Amendment freedom 

of association, by forcing U.S. citizens to not seek out treatments or limiting patient access to physicians who 

prescribe controlled substances.  Federal courts have consistently held that a deviation from the standard of care 

is not sufficient to meet the mens rea requirement under the Controlled Substances Act. See, e.g., United States 

v. Feingold, 454 F.3d 1001, 1007 (9th Cir. 2006). The Feingold court ultimately held that the Moore court 

criminalized not malpractice, or even intentional malpractice, but rather on the fact that [a doctor's] actions 

completely betrayed any semblance of legitimate medical treatment. Id. at 1010. The Court essentially 

cautioned against the current medical standards programmed into Defendants artificial intelligence algorithms, 

stating, “[w]e emphasize, however, that a district court may mislead a jury if its instructions referring to an 
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applicable standard of care suggest that a breach of that standard alone is sufficient to sustain a criminal 

conviction.” Id. 

Plaintiff Anand submits that Defendants commonly engage in prosecutorial misconduct against colored, 

brown and black skinned physicians as described and well documented in United States v. Shaygan as described 

below.  Plaintiff Anand submits to the Court that his allegations pertaining to Blue Cross Blue Shield and 

Qlarant/Health Integrity are also well described in United States v. Kraynak.  Plaintiff Anand provided evidence 

to Kraynak’s criminal defense attorneys upon the eve of Kraynak’s trial concerning Qlarant/Health Integrity and 

Blue Cross Blue Shield techniques of legal system abuse against physicians.  Upon information or belief 

Kraynak’s attorneys subsequently filed a motion in limine in Kraynak’s criminal trial which pertains to Plaintiff 

Anand’s amended Complaint to this Court (ECF 31).  

  

Blue Cross Blue Shield Partners With Qlarant/Health Integrity Against Dr. Raymond Kraynak 

In United States District Court, Middle District of Pennsylvania, Decided Aug 10, 2021 4:17-CR-00403 

08-10-2021, United States v. Raymond Kraynak, Matthew W. Brann, Chief United States District Judge ruled in 

a motion in limine filed by Dr. Kraynak in which he sought to exclude any evidence related to: data from the 

Pennsylvania Prescription Drug Monitoring Program; information regarding prescription information from 

Anthem Blue Cross Blue Shield; pharmacy records; information from Health Integrity, LLC (Qlarant); and 

certain nicknames for controlled substances.   Kraynak’s motion was granted in part and denied in part based on 

“Whether the Evidence is Intrinsic to the Charges”. 

 The United States Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit has explained that evidence is intrinsic to the 

charged crime under two circumstances. “First, evidence is intrinsic if it ‘directly proves' the charged offense, ” 

which “gives effect to Rule 404(b)'s applicability only to evidence of ‘other crimes, wrongs, or acts'” because 

“[i]f uncharged misconduct directly proves the charged offense, it is not evidence of some ‘other' crime.” 

“Second, uncharged acts performed contemporaneously with the charged crime may be termed intrinsic if they 

facilitate the commission of the charged crime.” As the Third Circuit has explained, “the nature and scope of the 

evidence able to be deemed intrinsic will vary with the charged offense.” 

 Kraynak was referring to the terms “Houston Cocktail” and “Holy Trinity” discussed in Anthem's 

investigation. Doc. 136-3 at 1. The Government believes that Kraynak is referring to the terms “pill mill” and 

“cocktails.” Doc. 140 at 35-36. United States v. Green, 617 F.3d 233, 248- 49 (3d Cir. 2010). 16 Id. at 249; 

United States v. Williams, 974 F.3d 320, 357 (3d Cir. 2020).  During Kraynak’s case, the Government's expert 

witness has previously explained, patient medical files are critical for the purposes of prescribing controlled 
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substances because they “distinguish[] the practice of medicine from drug dealing.  21 C.F.R. § 1306.04(a).  

Absent medical documentation, . . . the dispensing of controlled substances in type and amounts requested by 

patients because patients report satisfaction with the drugs is no different than any other form of drug dealing.”  

25 Doc. 60 at 5.  

Kraynak contended that evidence related to an investigation conducted by Anthem Blue Cross 

Blue Shield (“Anthem”) should be excluded because that investigation covers only information within Anthem's 

network, and thus may be prejudicial and misleading. Kraynak further asserted that information from Health 

Integrity, LLC (“Health Integrity”)/Qlarant should be excluded because its algorithm-designed to spot potential 

Medicare fraud-constitutes expert opinion and is highly prejudicial, as the jury may “believe that a computer 

has already done its work for them.”  With respect to the evidence compiled by Blue Cross Blue Shield during 

its investigation into Kraynak's prescription patterns, that investigation revealed that, between January 2012 and 

November 2014, Kraynak prescribed 54,820 medications, with 39% of those prescriptions issued for controlled 

substances and that Kraynak prescribed dangerous combinations of controlled substances, and prescribed far 

greater quantities of controlled substances than did other family medicine physicians both within Pennsylvania 

and nationally-his rate of prescription for controlled substances was more than four and one-half times the rate 

of other physicians within Pennsylvania, and well over three times the rate of other physicians nationally. 

Moreover, Blue Cross Blue Shield most likely through HFPP GDIT TTP databases identified several 

controlled substances which were in the top ten prescriptions issued by Kraynak, while none were in the top ten 

prescriptions issued by other family medicine practitioners in Pennsylvania.  Chief Judge Brann declared that 

the evidence was intrinsic to the charges because it tends to demonstrate that Kraynak issued “prescriptions of 

controlled substances in enormous quantities, and in dangerous combinations” and issued prescriptions in levels 

far beyond other family practitioners, which “support[s] a reasonable inference that the underlying prescriptions 

were issued outside the usual course of professional practice and without a legitimate medical purpose.” Chief 

Judge Matthew W. Brann memorandum states that “this directly proves an element of the offenses charged, it 

too falls outside the ambit of Rule 404(b) and is admissible”.  Lague, 971 F.3d at 1040.   

Kraynak asserted that the evidence was inadmissible because it presents only a small portion of the 

prescriptions that were issued in Pennsylvania, and therefore may be incomplete and may have the tendency to 

mislead the jury.  Chief Judge Matthew W. Brann, stated that there was no indication in the record that this 

evidence is actually incomplete or misleading, as Blue Cross Blue Shield’s data generally comports with PDMP 

data that shows Kraynak was a top prescriber of controlled substances.  
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Chief Judge Matthew W. Brann, also stated as to evidence of a referral from Health Integrity to the Drug 

Enforcement Agency, Health Integrity/Qlarant, a Medicare Drug Integrity Contractor was contracted to attempt 

to detect fraud, waste, and abuse in the Medicare Part D program. Using its “Pill Mill Doctors Proactive 

Analysis Model,” Health Integrity assigned Kraynak a predicted risk score of 977 on a scale of 1-1000 for 

overprescribing controlled substances. Based on the available evidence, Chief Judge Matthew W. Brann was 

unable to conclude that this evidence is intrinsic to the charges levied against Kraynak, or that the evidence is 

relevant to those charges quoting, “Because the Government has provided no information whatsoever with 

respect to Health Integrity's algorithm, how it operates, what factors the algorithm considers, or how those 

factors are relevant to the Government's case or to the elements of the charges against Kraynak.” Chief Judge 

Brann concluded that the Government did not offer any explicit defense of this evidence or explain how it is 

intrinsic or relevant to the charges. 

Plaintiff Anand alleges within his amended Complaint to this Court that the Defendants computer 

algorithms intends to instruct the jury on an improper legal standard and draw legal conclusions from that 

improper standard. Testimony generated by a computer program will be confusing to the trier of fact, unduly 

prejudicial, and not probative of any material fact at issue.  Plaintiff Anand alleges that it is impermissible to 

have a computer program testify to seek a criminal defendant’s intent.  Fed. R. Evid. 704 permits an expert to 

testify to the ultimate issue to be decided by the trier of fact. However, Fed. R. Evid. 704(a) prohibits “the 

expert from stating an opinion or inference about whether the defendant did nor did not have the mental state or 

condition constituting an element of the crime charged or of a defense thereto.” Fed. R. Evid. 704(b).  

Good faith is a defense to the charge of unlawful distribution: “If a physician dispenses a drug 'in good 

faith' in the course of medically treating a patient, then the doctor has dispensed the drug for a legitimate 

medical purpose in the usual course of accepted medical practice.” United States v. Volkman, 736 F.3d 1013, 

1021 (6th Cir. 2014).  In opining that criminal defendant's prescriptions lack “good faith” and were written 

“outside the course of professional medical practice,” the computer algorithms endeavor to offer the jury a 

conclusion about a defendant's mental state. The computer algorithm has not been proven to genuinely provide 

testimony regarding a physicians objective “good faith” without delving into a criminal defendant's mind. 

Defendants computer algorithms attempt to substitute the expertise of members of the physician 

community including substitute for the expertise of medical practitioners of the field of the human mind 

including but not limited to psychiatrists and neurologists.  There are no published scientific explanations or 

validity reports describing how the computer algorithm endeavors to determine a physicians’ quality of patient 

care or testify regarding the contents of a physician’s mind without having seen the physician’s patients or 
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speaking with physician.  Presumptive intent testimony produced by the computer algorithms are in clear 

conflict with Fed. R. Evid. 704(b) and should be excluded. According to Daubert v. Merrell Dow 

Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 509 U.S. 579;  113 S. Ct. 2786; 125 L. Ed. 2d 469 (1993), a district court's task in 

assessing evidence proffered under Rule 702 is to determine whether the evidence “both rests on a reliable 

foundation and is relevant to the task at hand.” Id. at 597. The district court must consider "whether the 

reasoning or methodology underlying the testimony is scientifically valid.” Id. at 592-93. 

Daubert attempts to strike a balance between a liberal admissibility standard for relevant evidence on the 

one hand and the need to exclude misleading “junk science” on the other. See Amorgianos v. Nat'l R.R. 

Passenger Corp., 303 F.3d 256, 267 (2d Cir. 2002). Although there is no “definitive checklist or test” for 

striking this balance, the Supreme Court in Daubert set forth a number of factors that typically “bear on the 

inquiry.” 509 U.S. at 593. These include whether the theory or technique in question “can be (and has been) 

tested,” whether it “has been subjected to peer review and publication,” whether it has a “known or potential 

rate of error," and finally, whether the theory or technique enjoys general acceptance in the relevant scientific 

community. Id. at 594.  

The Rule 702 inquiry is “a flexible one,” and “[t]he focus ... must be solely on principles and 

methodology, not on the conclusions they generate.” Id. at 594-95. An expert who presents testimony must 

“employ[] in the courtroom the same level of intellectual rigor that characterizes the practice of an expert in the 

relevant field.”  Kumho Tire Co. v. Carmichael, 526 U.S. 137, 152; 119 S. Ct. 1167; 143 L. Ed. 2d 238 (1999). 

See also Best v. Lowe's Home Ctrs., Inc., 563 F.3d 171, 177 (6th Cir. 2009) 

The Defendants, Blue Cross Blue Shield, Qlarant Health Integrity and HFPP artificial intelligence 

programs offers its own inaccurate legal standards based on application of medical practice guidelines as 

developed by Defendants which are not subject to peer review.  The artificial intelligence’s own standards are 

derived from its programing.  Nothing in either Daubert or the Federal Rules of Evidence requires a district 

court to admit opinion evidence that is created and analyzed by the ipse dixit of the artificial intelligence or the 

ipse dixit of the computer programmers of the artificial intelligence. General Elec. Co. v. Joiner, 522 U.S. 136, 

146 (1997). 

There are no published scientific validity or reliability testing documents concerning the artificial 

intelligence use of any objective criteria for analyzing proper physician prescribing and thus the final input of 

the computer algorithm simply opines on what the computer program believes is appropriate. Such presumptive 

intent testimony, without support from objective standards of medical care adopted by the medical community, 
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subjects criminally indicted physicians to judgment for the artificial intelligences’ own personal standard, an 

approach specifically rejected in General Elec. Co. v. Joiner.  

Objective medical standards exist to guide a physician's conduct, but the Defendants artificial 

intelligence programs fail to articulate a standard for “legitimate” medical practice and fails to tie its opinions to 

violations of specific standards applicable to physicians in the field of medicine.  Presumptive Intent testimony 

generated by an untested, unverified and unreliable artificial intelligence should be excluded under Fed. R. 

Evid. 702. The Federal Rules of Evidence require a trial judge to ensure that expert testimony admitted is not 

only relevant but reliable and is likely to promote an accurate finding. Whole Woman's Health v. Hellerstedt, 

136 S. Ct. 2292, 2317 (2016); see Madej v. Maiden, 951 F.3d 364, 369 (6th Cir. 2020).  

Again, an expert who presents testimony must “employ[] in the courtroom the same level of intellectual 

rigor that characterizes the practice of an expert in the relevant field.” Kumho Tire Co. v. Carmichael, 526 U.S. 

137, 152; 119 S. Ct. 1167; 143 L. Ed. 2d 238 (1999). See also Best v. Lowe's Home Ctrs., Inc., 563 F.3d 171, 

177 (6th Cir. 2009). A trial judge must determine at the outset, whether the expert is proposing to testify to 1) 

scientific knowledge that 2) will assist the trier of fact to understand or determine a fact at issue. This entails a 

preliminary assessment of whether the reasoning or methodology underlying the testimony is sufficiently valid 

and of whether that reasoning or methodology properly can be applied to the facts at issue. Daubert v. Merrell 

Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 509 U.S. 597, 589 (1993).  

The task for the district court in deciding whether an expert's opinion is reliable is not to determine 

whether it is correct, but rather to determine whether its rests upon a reliable foundation, as opposed to, say, 

unsupported speculation. In Re Scrap Metal Antitrust Litig., 527 F.3d 517, 529 (6th Cir. 2008). “The trial court's 

gatekeeping function requires more than simply taking the expert's word for it. [A court being] presented with 

only the experts' qualifications, their conclusions and their assurances of reliability [is not enough under 

Daubert].” Thomas v. City of Chattanooga, 398 F.3d 426, 432 (6th Cir. 2005). Rule 702 also specifically 

provides that an expert opinion must be based on “sufficient facts or data.” Fed. R. Evid. 702. 

An expert's opinion that is not based off sufficient data and instead is based on speculation is not 

admissible, because the courtroom is not the place for scientific guesswork, even of the inspired sort.” Tamraz v. 

Lincoln Elec. Co., 620 F.3d 665, 670-672 (6th Cir. 2010).  The Defendants computer algorithms do not possess 

the intellectual rigor required by Kumho and fails to satisfy the standard under Fed. R. Evid. 702.  The 

Defendants computer algorithms can not measure or determine scienter; there are no published documents 

verifying the validity and reliability of an artificial intelligence’s measure of a human mind’s scienter.  “We 

normally characterize this interpretive maxim as a presumption in favor of ‘scienter,’ by which we mean a 
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presumption that criminal statutes require the degree of knowledge sufficient to ‘mak[e] a person legally 

responsible for the consequences of his or her act or omission.’” (quoting Black’s Law Dictionary 1547 (10th 

ed. 2014), brackets in decision). 

The U.S. Supreme Court has often invoked that essential presumption when interpreting criminal 

statutes. “In determining Congress’ intent, we start from a longstanding presumption, traceable to the common 

law, that Congress intends to require a defendant to possess a culpable mental state regarding ‘each of the 

statutory elements that criminalize otherwise innocent conduct.’” Rehaif, 139 S. Ct. at 2195 (quoting United 

States v. X-Citement Video, Inc., 513 U.S. 64, 72 (1994)). See also Morissette v. United States, 342 U.S. 246, 

256-58 (1952). “We apply the presumption in favor of scienter even when Congress does not specify any 

scienter in the statutory text.” Rehaif, 139 S. Ct. at 2195 (citing Staples v. United States, 511 U.S. 600, 606 

(1994)). 

“[T]he presumption in favor of a scienter requirement should apply to each of the statutory elements that 

criminalize otherwise innocent conduct.” X-Citement Video, Inc., 513 U.S. at 72; see also Staples, 511 U.S. at 

614-15 (1994); Liparota v. United States, 471 U.S. 419, 426 (1985). “[W]here a statute is susceptible of two 

constructions, by one of which grave and doubtful constitutional questions arise and by the other of which such 

questions are avoided, our duty is to adopt the latter.” See Jones v. United States, 529 U.S. 848, 857 (2000) 

(inner quotations and citations omitted). Indeed, it is “incumbent on [courts] to read the statute to eliminate 

[serious constitutional] doubts so long as such a reading is not plainly contrary to the intent of Congress.” X-

Citement Video, Inc., 513 U.S. at 78. 

Even if Congress intended for physicians to be convicted without proof of criminal intent, that should 

still not be allowed by courts. State v. Blake, 197 Wash. 2d 170, 188, 481 P.3d 521, 531 (2021) stated that “[I]n 

2021, we have overwhelming evidence that the legislature intends the simple possession statute to penalize 

innocent non-conduct, and we have overwhelming legal authority that this violates the due process clauses of 

the state and federal constitutions.”  

Defendants in Partnership With the U.S. Attorney Office Commit Prosecutorial Misconduct Against 

Colored, Black and Brown Skinned Physicians In Violation of the Equal Protection Clause Necessitating 

Strict Scrutiny Judicial Review      

Dr. Ali Shaygan was a medical doctor, of brown skin color, practicing in Miami. Prosecutors from the U.S. 

Attorney’s Office in the Southern District of Florida sought, and the Grand Jury returned, a twenty-three count 
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indictment charging Dr. Shaygan with distributing controlled substances outside the scope of professional 

practice and not for a legitimate medical purpose, in violation of 21 U.S.C. § 841(a)(1).  United States v. 

Shaygan, 652 F.3d 1297, 1302–10 (11th Cir. 2011); Shaygan, 661 F. Supp. 2d at 1293.  

The indictment also charged that Dr. Shaygan’s improper prescribing practices resulted in the death of one 

of his patients. However, the prosecution of Dr. Shaygan ran into problems, and the prosecutors responded with 

tough tactics that deteriorated into disobeying Court Orders, hiding evidence, and shirking the longstanding 

obligations imposed upon federal prosecutors by Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S. Ct. 1194 (1963), Giglio 

v. United States, 405 U.S.  150, 92 S. Ct. 763 (1972), and the Jencks Act, 18 U.S.C. § 3500. Early on in his 

prosecution, Dr. Shaygan refused to withdraw his ultimately successful motion to suppress certain statements 

taken from him by investigators in violation of his Miranda rights. The prosecutors responded by taking their 

case against Dr. Shaygan back to the Grand Jury, to get a Superseding Indictment which added, 118 counts to 

the original charges. Shaygan, 661 F. Supp. 2d at 1298. This is the path by which the jury was ultimately 

presented with a 141-count indictment against Dr. Shaygan.  The jury quickly acquitted him of every count after 

a mere three hours of deliberation. 

 Judge Gold tells of how it came to pass that prosecutors enlisted two of their most important witnesses, 

Carlos Vento and Trinity Clendening (former patients of Dr. Shaygan), to secretly record conversations with Dr.  

Shaygan’s lawyers and their investigator. The lead prosecutor promoted these surreptitious recordings based on 

a report he got from his own investigator, an agent of the Drug Enforcement Agency (DEA). The DEA agent 

reported that a third prosecution witness, another patient named Courtney Tucker, was “going south” and 

“showing signs of reluctance” about testifying against Dr. Shaygan. Id. at 1301. The DEA agent advised that 

Ms. Tucker was wary of cooperating with the government in Dr. Shaygan’s case, because she feared the 

government would portray her as a drug addict during her testimony at Dr. Shaygan’s trial and might even 

prosecute her in the future. See id. at 1300. Based on this report, the lead prosecutor concluded that Dr. 

Shaygan’s lawyers were behind Ms. Tucker’s reluctance to testify and were engaging in “witness tampering.” 

See id. at 1302.  Before trial began, Sean Cronin, one of the two prosecutors on the case, suspected that 

Shaygan’s defense team might be tampering with potential witnesses and instituted the secret recordings to 

investigate. He and his fellow prosecutor, Andrea Hoffman, spoke with their supervisor at the United States 

Attorney’s Office, Karen Gilbert, who permitted Drug Enforcement Agent Christopher Wells to ask two 

potential government witnesses to record calls with the defense team. Gilbert instructed Cronin that she would 

be responsible for the collateral investigation and that Cronin and Hoffman should take no part in the 

investigation. Gilbert also instructed Agent Wells not to disclose information about the collateral investigation 
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to Cronin or Hoffman. Agent Wells spoke with the two witnesses, who agreed to record conversations with the 

defense team. One of the witnesses, Carlos Vento, later signed a confidential informant agreement. Agents filed 

DEA-6 reports that documented that Vento and the other witness, Trinity Clendening, had recorded 

conversations with the defense team and that Vento had signed a confidential informant agreement. At a status 

conference the week before trial, the district court ordered the government to turn over any DEA-6 reports so 

that the court could read them before trial to determine if they contained any exculpatory material that should be 

given to the defense under Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S. Ct. 1194 (1963).  Two days later, Cronin filed 

DEA-6 reports for several witnesses. Cronin had asked Agent Wells for all DEA-6 reports, but Cronin did not 

ask specifically for those generated in the collateral investigation. 

The government did not produce the DEA-6 reports related to the collateral investigation.  At trial, the 

government presented a wealth of evidence to suggest that Shaygan had distributed and dispensed controlled 

substances outside the scope of professional practice and not for a legitimate medical purpose in violation of 

federal law. See Shaygan, 652 F.3d at 1305–06. During the cross-examination of Clendening, Clendening 

mentioned a recording he had of a conversation with one of Shaygan’s attorneys. The next day, the government 

explained to the court the recordings and the collateral investigation. The district court allowed the defense to 

call Vento and Clendening again for cross-examination. The court instructed the jury that the defense did 

nothing wrong and that “the United States had acted improperly in not turning over the necessary discovery 

materials and also by allowing recordings to occur in the first place.” Id. at 1307–08. Shaygan was represented 

by an elite defense attorney, and Shaygan’s superb counsel took advantage of the opportunity to focus the 

attention of the jury on the alleged misconduct by the government in the collateral investigation. During the new 

cross-examinations of Vento and Clendening, Shaygan’s counsel accused them of not telling the whole truth to 

the jury because they had not revealed that they had been asked to record conversations with the defense team. 

In closing argument, Shaygan’s counsel compared the alleged misconduct by the government to the Salem 

witch trials. Shaygan’s counsel reminded the jury that the district court had instructed them that the “United 

States [had] acted improperly,” and argued that the jurors had been misled by the government. Shaygan’s 

counsel argued that innocent women had been convicted and hung in the Salem witch trials “because there were 

no jurors,” and he urged the jury to say “no” and to “make sure the Salem, Massachusetts[,] witch trials never 

happen again.” Id. At 1308. Without providing notice to the prosecutors that they were facing individual 

sanctions and without even hearing from Hoffman, the district court also entered a public reprimand “against 

the United States Attorney’s Office and specifically against AUSA Karen Gilbert, Sean Cronin, and Andrea 

Hoffman.” Id. The district court ordered the United States Attorney’s Office to provide “the contact information 
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for the relevant disciplinary body of the Bar(s) of which AUSA Cronin and Hoffman are members,” and stated 

that it would request that disciplinary action be taken against Cronin and Hoffman. Id.  

Unfortunately, this was not the first allegation of witness tampering made by these very prosecutors related 

to Dr. Shaygan’s defense team. These same two prosecutors earlier brought a case against Evelio Cervantes 

Conde, which resulted in Mr. Conde being acquitted. See United States v. Conde, No. 07-cr-20973 (S.D. Fla. 

July 18, 2008) (entering judgment of acquittal). Mr. Conde was represented by Mark Seitles, who later became 

one of Dr. Shaygan’s lawyers. After the Conde acquittal, the two prosecutors filed a criminal complaint against 

Mr. Conde, charging him with witness tampering.  Shaygan, 661 F. Supp. 2d at 1293. Mr. Seitles contested the 

charge with supervisors in the U.S. Attorney’s Office, and the witness tampering case against Mr. Conde was 

dropped without an indictment. Id. Among the problems with this premise for the surreptitious recording of the 

defense team is that the defense team never did say these things to Ms. Tucker, and neither did Ms. Tucker ever 

tell the DEA agent that they had. See id. at 1299. On this point, Judge Gold heard testimony from all involved, 

and made a finding that Ms. Tucker did not tell the DEA agent that anyone from the defense team had ever 

warned her that she would be subject to federal prosecution or that the government would attempt to portray her 

as a drug addict. Id. Judge Gold credited Ms. Tucker’s testimony that the defense team never tried to intimidate 

her. Id. Indeed, the evidence indicated that it was the government that fabricated Ms. Tucker’s purported 

bad statements about Dr. Shaygan when it included things Ms. Tucker did not say in the DEA-6 report 

(DEA-6). See id. at 1298. Once the ball got rolling on this baseless “witness tampering” investigation, the 

detour from the path to justice veered further. The government identified Mr. Vento and Mr. Clendening to the 

defense team as merely former Shaygan patients who would serve as neutral witnesses to the facts of the case. 

In truth, the lead prosecutor directed that Mr. Vento and Mr. Clendening be enlisted to record any conversations 

they might have with Dr. Shaygan’s defense team, see id. at 1304, and Mr. Vento was provided with a recording 

device for that purpose, id. at 1305. Within a few days, Mr. Vento secretly recorded a conversation with Michael 

Graff, who was the investigator working for Dr. Shaygan’s lawyers. Id. Later, at the government’s request, but 

using his own equipment, Mr. Clendening secretly recorded his conversation with David Markus—one of Dr. 

Shaygan’s lawyers.  See id. at 1308. These recordings were kept secret from the defense team and the District 

Court.  The prosecutors then violated direct Orders of the Court. Judge Gold ordered the government to give 

him all DEA-6s so that he could review them, in camera, before the trial began. See id. at 1300–01. Even so, the 

prosecutors did not turn over the DEA-6 which reported that Mr. Vento had recorded his conversation with Mr. 

Graff and also documented the DEA agent’s interview of Ms. Tucker. See id. at 1306. Neither did the 

government provide any DEA-6 which reported that Mr. Clendening had recorded his conversation with Mr. 
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Markus. See id. at 1310 (noting the prosecutor “did not disclose that he knew Clendening, who testified for the 

Government after Vento, was working with [the DEA agent] and that he had agreed to make recordings”). Also 

not produced was the “crucial DEA-6” reflecting that Mr. Vento had entered into a confidential informant 

agreement with the government on January 16, 2009. Id. at 1309.4 As Judge Gold noted, if these DEA-6 reports 

had been produced to him as he had ordered, Dr. Shaygan and the Court would have known about the recording 

of the defense team, and that Mr. Vento and Mr. Clendening were serving as DEA informants, instead of 

appearing as neutral witnesses. See id. at 1317.  Beyond these violations of the Court’s Orders, the prosecutors 

also violated their duties under Brady, Giglio and the Jencks Act. For example, the prosecutors knew of 

information given by Dr. Shaygan’s patients that was favorable to him, but withheld it. See id. at 1317–18. This 

was important because it went directly to the prosecution’s theory that Dr. Shaygan was not a legitimate doctor. 

See id. At 1318. Giglio was violated, for example, when the prosecution never disclosed to Dr. Shaygan that it 

had contacted a Florida prosecutor on behalf of Mr. Clendening—who was facing felony drug charges in 

Florida state court—to communicate that Mr. Clendening had been assisting the federal government in its 

efforts to prosecute Dr. Shaygan. See id. at 1309. The government violated the Jencks Act, when it possessed 

recorded statements of Mr. Vento and Mr. Clendening speaking to members of the Shaygan defense team, but 

did not turn over those statements in connection with Vento and Clendening’s testimony at trial. See id. at 1319–

20. All this the government failed to do even in the face of specific defense requests for Brady, Giglio and 

Jencks material, and a standing Court Order to produce it.  

The Court raised the Hyde Amendment against Dr. Shaygan’s persecutors which allows for the 

extraordinary remedy of requiring the public to pay an acquitted criminal defendant’s attorney’s fees, and this 

rare waiver of sovereign immunity applies only when a court determines that the entire “position of the United 

States was vexatious, frivolous, or in bad faith.” Pub. L. No. 105-119, § 617, 111 Stat. 2440, 2519 (1997) 

(reprinted in 18 U.S.C. § 3006A, historical and statutory notes). The “position” of the United States is expressed 

as a singular term for obvious reasons. Congress expected a court to assess the overall prosecution of a 

defendant and not base an award of fees only on discrete actions that took place during that prosecution. 

Traditional sanctions exist for discrete wrongs like discovery violations that occur during an otherwise 

reasonable prosecution, but an award of attorney’s fees under the Hyde Amendment is not one of those 

sanctions. The Hyde Amendment is concerned with wrongful prosecutions, not wrongs that occur during 

objectively reasonable prosecutions.  Congress and the common U.S. citizenry felt that it was dangerous to 

render trial judges mere spectators of extreme government misconduct. By enacting the Hyde Amendment, 

Congress gave trial judges the responsibility to determine whether “the position of the United States was 
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vexatious, frivolous, or in bad faith.”  In passing the Hyde Amendment Congress sought to respond to patterns 

of prosecutorial misconduct, including instances where prosecutors “keep information from [the defendant] that 

the law says they must disclose,” “hide information” and “suborn perjury.” 143 Cong. Rec. H7786-04, at H7791 

(daily ed. Sept. 24, 1997) (statement of Rep. Hyde).  Congress clearly understood that the presence of probable 

cause does not, and should not, excuse patterns of gross prosecutorial misconduct. Indeed, the legislative history 

expressly reflects that “a grand jury finding of probable cause to support an indictment does not preclude a 

judge from [awarding attorney’s fees].” H.R. Rep.  No. 105-405, at 194 (1997) (Conf. Rep.), reprinted in 1997 

U.S.C.C.A.N. 2941, 3045.  For example, as a sanction of prosecutors for discovery violations, a district court 

can prohibit the government from introducing the undisclosed evidence or “enter any other order that is just 

under the circumstances.” Fed. R. Crim. P. 16(d)(2)(C)–(D).  

A court also can publicly reprimand prosecutors for misconduct, when Representative Henry Hyde 

introduced the first version of the Hyde Amendment, he spoke of instances when prosecutors “keep information 

from [the defendant] that the law says they must disclose,” “hide information,” and “suborn perjury.” Dissenting 

Op. at 34 (quoting 143 Cong. Rec. H7786-04, at H7791 (daily ed. Sept. 24, 1997) (statement of Rep. Hyde)). 

The dissent reasons that “it seems Congress clearly understood that the presence of probable cause does not, and 

should not, excuse patterns of gross prosecutorial misconduct.” Dissenting Op. at 34–35. Congressman Hyde 

warned against the circumstances where the government “charges you with a criminal violation, even gets an 

indictment and proceeds, but they are wrong. They are not just wrong, they are willfully wrong, they are 

frivolously wrong.” 143 Cong. Rec. H7786-04, H7791 (Sept. 24, 1997) (statement of Rep. Hyde). The 

government might engage in various types of prosecutorial misconduct, “[b]ut they lose the litigation, the 

criminal suit, and they cannot prove substantial justification. In that circumstance . . . you should be entitled to 

your attorney’s fees reimbursed and the costs of litigation . . . . That, my friends, is justice.” Id. (emphasis 

added).  

Congressman Hyde’s statements referred to instances where an entire prosecution is wrong, not 

instances where a prosecutor commits only a discovery violation or only dislikes a defendant. Prosecutors 

perform a vital and laudatory role for our society. To help them carry out this role, “the people” give them 

enormous power. This, even to such an extent that they have authority to decide whether our government will 

seek to take the life of a given criminal defendant. Federal prosecutors are taught—and often reminded—that 

the “interest” of the United States “in a criminal prosecution is not that it shall win a case, but that justice shall 

be done.” Strickler v. Greene, 527 U.S. 263, 281, 119 S. Ct. 1936, 1948 (1999).  
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Plaintiff Anand alleges to this Court that our system of government is one of checks and balances, and 

no public official was intended to have power without end.  In 1997, Congress enacted just such a check on 

prosecutors in a statute commonly referred to as the Hyde Amendment. The legislation was widely understood 

to be Congress’s response to the prosecution of former Congressman Joseph McDade, who had served 

seventeen terms in Congress. After a lengthy federal investigation and trial, a jury acquitted Mr. McDade. 

During the development of that legislation, Congressman Henry Hyde, then Chairman of the House Judiciary 

Committee, referred to “someone we all know who went through hell, if I may use the term, for many years of 

being accused and finally prevailed at enormous expense, one he will never get out from under.” 143 Cong. 

Rec. H7786-04, at H7791 (daily ed. Sept. 24, 1997) (statement of Rep. Henry Hyde, Chairman, H. Comm. on 

Judiciary). In that same discussion, Congressman Hyde described the concerns motivating the law which bears 

his name: What if Uncle Sam sues you, charges you with a criminal violation, even gets an indictment and 

proceeds, but they are wrong. They are not just wrong, they are willfully wrong, they are frivolously wrong. 

They keep information from you that the law says they must disclose. They hide information. They do not 

disclose exculpatory information to which you are entitled. They suborn perjury. Id. As it was ultimately passed, 

the Hyde Amendment permits federal courts to award reasonable attorneys fees to criminal defendants who are 

acquitted if “the position of the United States was vexatious, frivolous, or in bad faith.” Pub. L. No. 105-119, § 

617, 111 Stat. 2440, 2519 (1997) (reprinted in 18 U.S.C. § 3006A, historical and statutory notes). Plaintiff 

Anand argues to this Court that the judicial branch was given a primary role to play in the system of checks and 

balances to protect against prosecutorial misconduct against colored, black and brown skinned physicians. 

Furthermore, to ensure that the basis for the charges alone does not limit the availability of sanctions, 

Congress adopted the term “the position of the United States” from the Equal Access to Justice Act (EAJA). See 

United States v. Gilbert, 198 F.3d 1293, 1300 (11th Cir. 1999) (noting that Congressman Hyde “patterned his 

amendment after” the EAJA). The EAJA provides for attorneys fees to litigants who prevail against the United 

States in civil cases where the government’s position is not “substantially justified.” See 28 U.S.C. § 2412(d)(1)

(A).  As with the factual inquiry, Judge Gold diligently undertook the responsibility imposed on him by the 

Hyde Amendment (18 U.S.C. § 3006A) to determine whether this misconduct by the government amounted to a 

position that was vexatious, frivolous or in bad faith. He found generally that the two Shaygan prosecutors 

“exhibited a pattern of ‘win-at-all-cost’ behavior . . . that was contrary to their ethical obligations as prosecutors 

and a breach of their ‘heavy obligation to the accused.’” Id. at 1315. Among Judge Gold’s specific findings of 

bad faith was his finding that the lead prosecutor undertook the surreptitious recordings in the so-called witness 

tampering investigation “for the bad faith purpose of seeking to disqualify the defense lawyers for conflict-of-
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interest immediately prior to trial.” Id. At 1310.  Judge Gold found that the lead prosecutor knew that if key 

defense lawyers for Dr. Shaygan could be disqualified just before the trial, they would have to step down 

immediately. See id. at 1311. That “catastrophic” blow, it was hoped, would “force” Dr. Shaygan to plead guilty. 

Id. Judge Gold also undertook an extensive discussion of how the lead prosecutor failed to follow either the 

policies of his U.S. Attorney’s Office or the specific instruction given him to remove himself from the 

investigation he had initiated against opposing counsel. Noting how the strict “taint wall” between the Shaygan 

prosecution and the investigation of Dr. Shaygan’s defense team had been repeatedly breached for “tactical” 

purposes, id. at 1311, Judge Gold found that the lead prosecutor acted with “implicit bias and in bad faith” in 

this regard as well. Id. at 1302. Judge Gold drew a “strong inference[]” that the Superseding Indictment adding 

118 counts to the twenty-three counts of the original indictment was “significantly motived by ill-will.” Id. at 

1298. Judge Gold found that the addition of so many charges was designed to compel a guilty plea from Dr. 

Shaygan by “greatly increas[ing] the time and cost of the trial” and by delaying the trial so as to prolong the 

“strict conditions of house arrest” which were exacting a heavy psychological toll on Dr. Shaygan. Id. Finally, 

Judge Gold found that the prosecution’s failure to turn over the DEA-6 documenting that Mr. Vento had 

recorded the defense team was “knowing and in bad faith.” Id. at 1306. He found that the prosecution’s failure 

to turn over the DEA-6 report of the interview of Ms. Tucker was “willful, vexatious and in bad faith.” Id. at 

1301. These actions and many others, Judge Gold concluded, were “conscious and deliberate wrongs” arising 

from “the prosecutors’ moral obliquity.” Id. at 1321. And far from isolated wrongs, he emphasized, they fit into 

a “pattern” of desperate conduct designed to save a case that had become weak from getting even weaker. See 

id. at 1315, 1322.  Judge Gold delineated his findings of (1) instances in which the prosecutors offered live 

testimony which varied from their own written affidavits previously given to the Court, see Shaygan, 661 F. 

Supp. 2d at 1302, 1306; (2) instances in which various members of the U.S. Attorney’s Office and law 

enforcement agents gave differing accounts of the same events, see id. at 1302; (3) policies of the U.S. 

Attorney’s Office regarding investigations of opposing counsel being violated, see id. at 1303–04; and (4) 

members of the U.S. Attorney’s Office “casually” discussing with a group of people at dinner, the fact that 

while he was testifying during Dr. Shaygan’s trial, Mr. Clendening blurted out that he had recorded his 

conversation with Dr. Shaygan’s lawyer, when no member of the prosecution had ever disclosed the existence 

of these recordings to the Court, see id. at 1312–13.  It was this pattern of misconduct that led Judge Gold to 

conclude sanctions were warranted. See id. At 1321–22.   

Dr. Shaygan’s issues are also identical to those alleged by Dr. Clarence Verdell and Dr. Walter Wrenn, 

black skinned physicians, who allege that Independence Blue Cross engineered criminal indictments against 
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them with prosecutorial misconduct in the Philadelphia area. Plaintiff Anand’s amended Complaint seeks 

information pertaining to violations of the Equal Protection Clause necessitating strict scrutiny Judicial Review. 

       

Plaintiff Anand Requests 54(b) Motion for Re-Consideration of His Amended Complaint 

Because Defendants Violate Ex Post Facto Law and The Administrative Procedure Act (APA) 

In general, “a court will grant a motion for consideration of an interlocutory order only when the movant 

demonstrates: (1) an intervening change in the law; (2) the discovery of new evidence not previously available; 

or (3) a clear error in the first order.” Stewart v. Panetta, 826 F. Supp. 2d 176, 177 (D.D.C. 2011)(quoting 

Zeigler v. Potter, 555 F.Supp.2d 126,129 (D.D.C. 2008)). Plaintiff Anand alleges that Defendants targeting of 

him in his criminal trial violates U.S. Ex Post Facto Law and the Administrative Procedure Act (APA), a clear 

error in the first order necessitating Plaintiff Anand’s amended Complaint (ECF 31).   

According to documents provided by Plaintiff Anand to this Court in Exhibits, on October 20, 2016 a 

clandestine meeting was called by Center for Medicare Services(CMS), organized by CMS, funded by CMS, 

and held on federal property at the CMS Command Center in Woodlawn, Maryland, where the HFPP designed 

an unlawful federal policy on the practice of medicine including opioid prescribing and “encourage practices 

that connect patients to the level of care best suited to their needs…. while avoiding unnecessary services or 

opioid prescriptions.” HFPP encourages pharmacists to “deny payments for (opioid) prescriptions that do not 

conform to general prescribing practices” and to profile doctors and patients to identify “problematic actors and 

schemes.”   

The structure and operation of the Controlled Substance Act (CSA) presumes and relies upon a 

functioning medical profession regulated under the state's police powers. The very definition of a "practitioner" 

eligible to prescribe includes physicians licensed in the jurisdiction in which he practices. Further cautioning 

against the conclusion that the CSA effectively displaces the state's general regulation of medical practice is the 

Act's pre-emption provision, which indicates that, absent a positive conflict, none of the Act's provisions should 

be "construed as indicating an intent on the part of the Congress to occupy the field in which that provision 

operates...to the exclusion of any state law on the same subject matter which would otherwise be within the 

authority of the state." The CSA's substantive provisions and their arrangement undermine the assertion of an 

expansive federal authority to regulate medicine. 

Public health power is historically part of state police power.  See Biden v. Missouri, 142 S. Ct. 647, 

652-653 (2022) (“It is a ‘fundamental canon of statutory construction that the words of a statute must be read in 
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their context and with a view to their place in the overall statutory scheme.’” (quoting Davis v. Mich. Dep’t of 

Treasury, 489 U.S. 803,809 (1989)).  Defendants HHS and DEA are involved and engaging in power over 

public health that “was traditionally understood-and still is understood- as a function of state police power.” Id.; 

see id. At 1262 & n.23; Nat’l Fed’n of Indep. Bus., 142 S. Ct. at 668. (“Historically, [public health] matters have 

been regulated at the state level by authorities who enjoy broader and more general governmental powers.”).  

Courts often decline to defer to agency interpretations that would “permit federal encroachment upon a 

traditional state power.” Solid Waste Agency v. U.S. Army Corps of Eng’rs, 531 U.S. 159, 172-173 (2001).  That 

is so because it is an “ordinary rule of statutory construction that if Congress intends to alter the usual 

constitutional balance between the States and the Federal Government, it must make its intention to do so 

unmistakably clear in the language of the statute.” Will v. Mich. Dep’t of State Police, 491 U.S. 58,65 (1989).  

Also see Brown & Williamson Tobacco, 529 U.S. at 160 (rejecting the FDA’s “extremely strained understanding 

of ‘safety’” that supported its claim to regulate the tobacco industry). 

Defendants are actively violating the Administrative Procedure Act (APA) against Plaintiff Anand, 

physicians and health care providers with respect to the Controlled Substance Act.  The APA is a federal act that 

governs the procedures of administrative law codified in 5 U.S.C. §§ 551–559.  The core pieces of the act 

establish how federal administrative agencies make rules and how they adjudicate administrative litigation. 5 

U.S.C. § 551(5)–(7) clarifies that rulemaking is the “agency process for formulating, amending, and repealing a 

rule,” and adjudication is the final disposition of an agency matter other than rulemaking. That is, rulemaking 

goes beyond resolution of specific controversies between parties and includes management and administrative 

functions. Rulemaking and adjudication can be formal or informal, which in turn determines which APA 

procedural requirements apply. The APA applies to the different types of administrative actions as follows: 

1. Formal Rulemaking. 5 U.S.C. §§ 553, 556, and 557 govern formal rulemaking.  

2. Informal Rulemaking. 5 U.S.C. § 553 governs informal rulemaking.  

3. Formal Adjudication. 5 U.S.C. §§ 554, 556, and 557 govern formal adjudication.  

4. Informal Adjudication. The APA does not establish procedural requirements for informal administrative 

adjudication, but the Due Process Clause of the constitution, the specific agency’s regulations, or 

other statutes may create procedural protections.  

The APA requires that reviewing courts “hold unlawful and set aside agency action” that is “arbitrary” or 

“capricious”; “in excess of statutory jurisdiction, authority, or limitations, or short of statutory right”; or that 

was issued “without observance of procedure required by law.” 5 U.S.C. 706.  In a case reviewing agency 
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action, “the ‘entire case’ on review is a question of law” and “the district judge sits as an appellate tribunal.” 

Am. Bioscience, Inc. v. Thompson, 269 F.3d 1077, 1083 (D.C. Cir. 2001) “Summary Judgement serves as ‘the 

mechanism for deciding, as a matter of law, whether the agency action is supported by the administrative record 

and otherwise consistent with the APA standard of review.’” O.A. v. Trump, 404 F. Supp 3d 109, 125 (D.D.C. 

2019).  If a plaintiff “prevails on its APA claim,” the “relief under that statute normally will be a vacatur of the 

agency’s order.” Am. Bioscience, 269 F.3d at 1084.  Because “[a]dministrative agencies are creatures of statue,” 

they “possess only the authority that Congress provided.” Nat’l Fed’n of Indep. Bus. v. Dep’t of Lab., 142 S. Ct. 

661, 665 (2022)(per curiam). The APA requires that agencies provide an opportunity for the public to review 

and comment upon a new rule before it becomes legally binding.  See 5 U.S.C. 553(b).  The agency must 

publish a notice in the Federal Register that includes “reference to the legal authority under which the rule is 

proposed,” and “either the terms or substance of the proposed rule or a description of the subjects and issues 

involved.” 553(b)(2).  Following publication, the agency must “give interested persons an opportunity to 

participate in the rule making through submission of written data, views, or arguments.” 553(c).  This comment 

period must be at least thirty days. See 533(d).  Finally, the “agency must consider and respond to significant 

comments received during the period for public comment” Perez v. Mortg. Bankers Ass’n, 575 U.S. 92, 96 

(2015).  This process is known as “notice and comment.”  It “permits interested parties to criticize projected 

agency action before that action is embedded in a final rule and allows the agency to benefit from the parties’ 

suggestions.”  Council of S. Mountains, Inc. v. Donovan, 653 F. 2d 573, 580 (D.C. Cir. 1981)(per curiam).  It 

also “attempts to provide a ‘surrogate political process’” to constrain the exercise of legislative power that 

Congress has delegated to an otherwise “undemocratic and unaccountable rulemaking process.” Dep’t of 

Homeland Sec. v. Regents of the Univ. of Cal., 140 S. Ct. 1891, 1929 n.13 (2020). 

 The APA’s notice-and-comment procedures apply only to agency rulemaking, see 5 U.S.C. 553(b), 

which is the process of making a rule “of general or particular applicability and future effect,” 551(4)-(5).  It 

does not apply to case-by-case “adjudication,” which results in an “order.” 551(6)-(7); see Neustar, Inc v. FCC, 

857 F.3d 886, 893-896 (D.C. Cir. 2017)(explaining the distinction between rules and orders).  Nor does it apply 

to an agency’s “interpretative rules” or “general statements of policy,” 553(b), neither of which are binding on 

the public.  See Perez, 575 U.S. at 103 (reciting “the longstanding recognition that interpretive rules do not have 

the force and effect of law”).  Also see In re Gateway Radiology Consultants, P.A., 983 F.3d 1239, 1263 (11th 

Cir. 2020)(quoting Judulang v. Holder, 565 U.S. 42, 53 (2011))(explaining that courts may not simply “rubber 

stamp” agency action). 
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 Section 553(b) ordinarily provides U.S. citizens the opportunity “to participate in the formulation of the 

rules by which they are to be regulated.”  See Am. Fed’n of Gov’t Emps., AFL-CIO v. Block, 655 F.2d 1153, 

1156 (D.C. Cir. 1981).  And the “more expansive the regulatory reach of [agency] rules, of course, the greater 

the necessity for public comment.” Id.  Second, the public has a heightened interest in participating in a 

regulation that would constrain their choices and actions via threats of civil and criminal penalties.  See United 

States v. Gavrilovic, 551 F.2d 1099, 1105 (8th Cir. 1977)(“When the consequence of agency rule making is to 

make previously lawful conduct unlawful and to impose criminal sanctions, the balance of these competing 

policies imposes a heavy burden upon the agency to show public necessity.”).  And finally, “[e]specially in the 

context of health risks, notice and comment procedures assure the dialogue necessary to the creation of 

reasonable rules.”  Marshall, 628 F.2d at 621 (describing novel public health measures as “exactly the kind of 

standard[s] which especially need [] the utmost care in [their] development and exposure to public and expert 

criticism”). 

Since Defendant HHS/CMS failure to use notice and comment prior to October 20, 2016 “plainly 

affected the procedure used, [the Court] cannot assume that there was no prejudice” to Plaintiff Anand and other 

healthcare providers nationwide.  U.S. Steel Corp., 595 F.2d at 215 (reasoning that failure to provide pre-

promulgation notice and comment was prejudicial despite a post-promulgation opportunity for comment).  

Indeed, “the entire premise of notice-and-comment requirements is that an agency’s decision making may be 

affected by concerns aired by interested parties.” Nat. Res. Def. Council v. Wheeler, 955 F.3d 68,85 (D.C. 

Cir.2020).  As a result, “an utter failure to comply with notice and comment cannot be considered harmless if 

there is any uncertainty at all as to the effect of that failure.”  Sugar Cane Growers Coop. of Fla. v. Veneman, 

289 F.3d 89, 96 (D.C. Cir 2002); see also U.S. Steel Corp., 595 F.2d at 215 (“Absence of such prejudice must be 

clear for harmless error to be applicable.”).   

Plaintiff Neil Anand provides at least a “minimal showing” that he was prejudiced by the lack of notice 

and comment by Defendant HHS/CMS, HFPP, and Blue Cross Blue Shield pertaining to their joint enterprise 

October 20, 2016 meeting concerning the unlawful establishment of a “national opioid standard” and utilization 

of untested computer algorithm criminal forensic tools.  Mid Continent Nail, 846 F. 3d at 1384.  Furthermore, an 

agency “must consider and explain its rejection of ‘reasonably obvious’” or “significant and viable” 

alternatives.  Nat’l Shooting Sports Found., Inc. v. Jones, 716 F.3d 200, 215 (D.C. Cir. 2013)  Due to the rising 

numbers of deaths caused by the opioid crisis subsequent to October 20, 2016, the Defendants need to explain 

why they acted as they did.  See Regents of the Univ. of Cal., 140 S. Ct. at 1907 (noting that agency decisions 

must be “adequately explained”).  HHS/CMS, HFPP, and Blue Cross Blue Shield also failed to adequately 
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explain the establishment of the October 20, 2016 “national opioid standard” because our system does not 

permit agencies to act unlawfully even in the pursuit of desirable ends.  

“National Opioid Standards” or “National Medical Guidelines” as designed by the Defendants, HFPP 

private health insurers, the Blue Cross Blue Shield “Champion Partners”, Independence Blue Cross, or Blue 

Cross Blue Shield of Michigan are not binding upon physicians without having been promulgated through the 

notice-and-comment statute that Congress drafted specifically for Medicare in 1987.  The U.S. Supreme Court 

held in Azar v. Allina Health Services that interpretive guidance does not bind health care providers unless 

promulgated through the notice-and-comment procedures required by the Medicare statute.  The Medicare Act 

provides that no payment may be made to a physician under Medicare Part B if the items or services are not 

“reasonable and necessary for the diagnosis or treatment of illness or injury or to improve the functioning of a 

malformed body member.”  Consequently, to obtain Medicare reimbursement, providers must make 

certifications relating to the services they have provided to patients including a certification of medical 

necessity. 

The substance use disorder patient or chronic intractable pain patient’s bodily functions are sufficiently 

limited to classify the patients as disabled, pursuant to the ADA as well as the Section 504 of the Rehabilitation 

Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. 794).  By inducing fear of raid, incarceration, forfeiture of assets, and the loss of 

medical licensure on physicians who treat chronic pain and addiction, the policies of Defendants HHS and DEA 

violated the ADA, Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. 794), HIPAA, ACA, MHPA, and 

MHPAEA. As such, Plaintiff Anand’s patients had a duty to receive proper pain care or substance abuse care per 

Rights to Treatment under ADA, Rehabilitation Act, HIPAA, ACA, MHPA, and MHPAEA. The chronic 

disabling pain patients, as well as the substance abuse patients belongs to the class of patients whom these Acts 

intended to protect. 

Under MHPAEA regulations, a plan or issuer may not impose an Non-Quantitative Treatment 

Limitations (NQTL) on Mental Health (MH)/ Substance Use Disorder (SUD) benefits unless, under the terms of 

the plan or coverage as written and in operation, any processes, strategies, evidentiary standards, or other factors 

used in applying the NQTL to MH/SUD benefits in a classification are comparable to, and are applied no more 

stringently than, those used in applying the limitation with respect to medical or surgery benefits in the same 

classification.  HFPP private insurers and Blue Cross Blue Shield violate the MHPAEA. 

The Department of Health and Human Services decides “whether a particular medical service is 

‘reasonable and necessary’ by promulgating a generally applicable rule or by allowing individual adjudication” 

via a National Coverage Determination (“NCD”).   See 42 C.F.R. § 405.1060; see also United States v. Adams, 
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371 F. Supp. 3d 1195, 1213 (N.D. Ga. 2019)(“NCDs are considered substantive rules, which carry the force of 

law”). No rule, requirement, or other statement of policy (other than a national coverage determination) that 

establishes or changes a substantive legal standard governing the scope of benefits, the payment for services, or 

the eligibility of individuals, entities, or organizations to furnish or receive services or benefits under this title 

shall take effect unless it is promulgated by the [HHS] Secretary by regulation [via notice-and-comment 

rulemaking].  42 U.S.C. § 1395hh(a)(2)(emphasis added).   

Section 1395hh(a)(2) requires “interpretive” guidance to go through formal rulemaking to be valid.  The 

HFPP Insurers and especially the Blue Cross Blue Shield “Champion Partners” knowingly and deliberately 

prevented other stakeholders in healthcare, such as physicians, pharmacists, hospitals or patients, to assist in 

developing appropriate medical guidelines at the October 20, 2016 meeting which was called by CMS, 

organized by CMS, funded by CMS, and held on federal property at the CMS Command Center in Woodlawn, 

Maryland.  The Defendants unlawfully utilize “red flags” including early fills, long distances traveled, cash 

payments, dangerous drug cocktails, and high-strength narcotics as elements of criminal violations of the 

Controlled Substance Act.  The government’s interpretation is untenable because courts “expect Congress to 

speak clearly” if it assigns decisions “of vast economic and political significance” to an administrative agency. 

Ala. Ass’n of Realtors, 141 S. Ct. at 2489.  Qlarant and Blue Cross Blue Shield Association Members marketing 

materials advertise that they present to trial courts evidence that creates “presumptive intent.”  These precrime 

predictive algorithms “conflict with the overriding presumption of innocence with which the law endows the 

accused, and which extends to every element of the crime. Such incriminating presumptions through data 

analysis of “presumptive red flags” as postulated by USDOJ, HHS, DEA experts are not to be improvised by the 

judiciary without U.S. Congressional legislative action.  The scientific and mathematical uncertainty 

surrounding the utilization of Defendants determinations via unproven data analytic criminal forensics as 

conclusory evidence to criminally indict or convict physicians, violates the cannons and legal doctrines of 

criminal science.  In a criminal proceeding there is unfair prejudice that can arise from the inordinate weight 

that a jury is likely to give to the determinations reached by a government fact-finding body. Admission of the 

results of conclusions produced by Qlarant Health Integrity or Blue Cross Blue Shield data analytics programs 

that are programmed utilizing “clandestine USDOJ, DEA, HHS, HFPP or BCBSA “national guidelines” into 

evidence in criminal trials against physicians, risks usurping the proper role of the jury as fact finder. 

Defendants, Qlarant, HFPP, BCBSA computer algorithms are used in medical “decision making”, and they are 

unlawful as the artificial intelligences have not been tested, evaluated or approved by the Food and Drug 

Administration (FDA) as a Medical Device under Section 3060 of the 21st Century Cures Act which only 
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exempts five categories of Clinical Decision Support tools.   Pertaining to software as a Medical Device, the 

FDA seeks a valid clinical association between the software’s output and its targeted clinical condition. The 

company must show that the software processes input data to generate accurate, reliable output that achieves the 

intended purpose in the context of clinical care for the target population. 

HHS, DEA, USDOJ, HFPP, BCBSA and/or Qlarant’s algorithms are improperly designed to produce 

legal conclusions for the purposes of unduly and improperly influencing a jury in a criminal trial.  Ultimately 

the sole intent of the algorithms is to improperly influence the jury to defer to USDOJ, HHS or DEA’s 

conclusions. HFPP and Qlarant algorithms unlawfully supplant the jury as a fact finder and are an unlawful 

form of judicial engineering.  Courts of Law and Justice are hesitant to treat as factual findings statements in a 

draft report or mere recommendations directed to a full agency or third party. As explained in Hines v. Brandon 

Steel Decks, Inc. “[c]onclusions are inadmissible because the jury would have no way of knowing whether the 

preparer of the report was cognizant of the requirements underlying the legal conclusion and, if not, whether the 

preparer might have a higher or lower standard than the law requires.” 886 F.2d 299, 303 (11th Cir. 1989).  

Attorney General Jeffery Sessions as a policy matter, directed federal agencies to use untested computer 

algorithms and ruthless regulatory action to address national priorities related to the U.S. “opioid epidemic” and 

via these agency orders tried to demote U.S. Congressional Branch’s enacted laws and court precedents and 

elevate AG Sessions’ personal policy choices. The Defendants intend to overrule or ignore binding law. Such 

agency action is unconstitutional. Repealing the rules based on a U.S. President's policy choice would violate 

the Take Care Clause, the Supremacy Clause, and the separation-of-powers doctrine. The U.S. President has the 

unique constitutional duty to take care that the laws are faithfully executed. The President's policy choice in 

having Attorney General Jeffery Sessions derogate portions of the nation's laws is forbidden by the Take Care 

Clause - as is his decision to demote the nation's laws by elevating over them his policy preferences.  The use of 

Red Flags by Defendants to target physicians and other healthcare providers violates Ex Post Facto Doctrine. 

An ex post facto law (from Latin: ex postfacto, lit. 'out of the aftermath') is a law that retroactively changes 

the legal consequences (or status) of actions that were committed, or relationships that existed, before the 

enactment of the law. In criminal law, it may criminalize actions that were legal when committed; it may 

aggravate a crime by bringing it into a more severe category than it was in when it was committed; it may 

change the punishment prescribed for a crime, as by adding new penalties or extending sentences; or it may 

alter the rules of evidence in order to make conviction for a crime likelier than it would have been when the 

deed was committed. 
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The Digesta Iustiniani (15.3.10.8.3, 20.1.22.pr2) ("Digest of Justinian") contains the two-word phrase ex 

postfacto: "out of a postfactum" (an after-deed), or more naturally, "from a law passed afterward". This same 

work, however, also makes use of the three-word phrase ex post facto, (2.14.17.4.2, 4.6.17.1.1, passim), 

suggesting that post might best be understood as an adverb. Other adverbial usages of post include the Classical 

Roman author and senator Marcus Tullius Cicero employing phrases such as multis post annis (De Re 

Publica 2.5.8 and elsewhere). Thus, ex post facto or ex postfacto is natively an adverbial phrase, a usage 

demonstrated by the sentence "He was convicted ex post facto (from a law passed after his crime)." The law 

itself would rightfully be a lex postfacta in Latin, although English generally uses the phrase "an ex post facto 

law". As always when “determining the meaning of a statutory provision,” the Court “look[s] first to its 

language, giving the words used their ordinary meaning.”  Artis v. Dist. of Columbia, 138 S. Ct. 594, 603 

(2018).  The verbiage also “informs the grant of authority by illustrating the kinds of measures that could be 

necessary.” Ala. Ass’n of Realtors, 141 S. Ct. at 2488.  See also Tiger Lily, LLC v. U.S. Dep’t of Hous. & Urb. 

Dev. (Tiger Lily II), 5 F.4th 666, 670 (6th Cir. 2021).  (Because common words typically have more than one 

meaning, you must use the context in which a given word appears to determine its aptest, most likely sense.”); 

accord Dolan v. U.S. Postal Serv., 546 U.S. 481, 486 (2006).  See Food Mktg. Inst. V. Argus Leader Media, 139 

S. Ct. 2356, 2364 (2019)(“In statutory interpretation disputes, a court’s proper starting point lies in a careful 

examination of the ordinary meaning and structure of the law itself.”)   

Thomas Jefferson, one of the Founding Fathers of the United States, stated in 1813 that: The sentiment 

that ex post facto laws are against natural right is so strong in the United States, that few, if any, of the State 

constitutions have failed to proscribe them. ...The federal constitution indeed interdicts them in criminal cases 

only; but they are equally unjust in civil as in criminal cases, and the omission of a caution which would have 

been right, does not justify the doing what is wrong. Nor ought it to be presumed that the legislature meant to 

use a phrase in an unjustifiable sense, if by rules of construction it can be ever strained to what is just.— 

Thomas Jefferson, Letter to Isaac McPherson, August 13, 1813 

Ex post facto laws are expressly forbidden by the United States Constitution in Article 1, Section 9, Clause 3 

(with respect to federal laws) and Article 1, Section 10 (with respect to state laws). Congress is prohibited from 

passing ex post facto laws by clause 3 of Article I, Section 9 of the United States Constitution. The states are 

prohibited from passing ex post facto laws by clause 1 of Article I, Section 10. This is one of the relatively few 

restrictions that the United States Constitution made to both the power of the federal and state governments 

before the Fourteenth Amendment. See also Calder v. Bull. 
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The US military also recognizes ex post facto law. Common law states that Courts-martial will not enforce 

an ex post facto law, including increasing amount of pay to be forfeited for specific crimes. See United States v. 

Gorki 47 M.J. 370.  Article 25 of the American Declaration of the Rights and Duties of Man provides in part 

that "[n]o person may be deprived of his liberty except in the cases and according to the procedures established 

by pre-existing law." The right to be tried in accordance to "pre-existing law" is reiterated in article 26. 

Ex post facto criminalization is also prohibited by Article 7 of the European Convention on Human Rights, 

Article 15(1) of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, and Article 9 of the American 

Convention on Human Rights.  In international criminal law, the Nuremberg trials prosecuted war 

crimes and crimes against humanity perpetrated in World War II. Although the Nuremberg Charter, 

the procedural law under which the trials were held, postdated V-E Day, the tribunal rejected the defense that 

the criminal law was ex post facto, arguing it derived from earlier treaties like the Hague Conventions of 1899 

and 1907. The International Criminal Court established in 2002 cannot prosecute crimes committed before 

2002.  Article 11, paragraph 2 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights provides that no person be held 

guilty of any criminal law that did not exist at the time of offence nor suffer any penalty heavier than what 

existed at the time of offence. It does however permit application of either domestic or international law. 

Very similar provisions are found in Article 15, paragraph 1 of the International Covenant on Civil and 

Political Rights, replacing the term "penal offence" with "criminal offence". It also adds that if a lighter penalty 

is provided for after the offence occurs, that lighter penalty shall apply retroactively. Paragraph 2 adds a 

provision that paragraph 1 does not prevent trying and punishing for an act that was criminal according to the 

general principles of law recognized by the community of nations. Specifically addressing the use of the death 

penalty, article 6, paragraph 2 provides in relevant part that a death sentence may only be imposed "for the most 

serious crimes in accordance with the law in force at the time of the commission of the crime". 

In administrative law, federal agencies may apply their rules retroactively if Congress has authorized them 

to; otherwise, retroactive application is generally prohibited. Retroactive application of regulations is disfavored 

by the courts for several reasons. The courts uphold retroactive regulation where Congress has expressly 

granted such retroactive power to the agency, as they did in Bowen v. Georgetown University Hospital.   

Defendants actions violate administrative law as well as Ex Post Facto Law concerning the Controlled 

Substance Act and Health Care Fraud Statutes.  It is unlawful for Defendants to accomplish its policy objectives 

through any means it pleases. U.S. Executive Branch agencies should follow the informal notice-and-comment 

rulemaking procedure, if not the formal rulemaking procedure laid out in the Administrative Procedure Act 
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(APA). The APA requires federal agencies to provide public notice of proposed rules and an opportunity for 

comment, unless the agencies “for good cause” find that notice and comment “are impracticable, unnecessary, 

or contrary to the public interest.” 5 U.S.C. § 553(b)(B).  Congress empowered U.S. Executive Branch Agencies 

like HHS to use only the APA's formal or informal rulemaking procedures to issue binding rules.  Defendant 

DEA can enforce a rule only if it is published in the Federal Register or a publicly available repository.  

Documents not published in these two sources can have no legal consequences.  

The Due Process Clause requires actual notice and an opportunity to respond if any U.S. Executive Branch 

Agency wishes to use as binding any guidance document against the public. The Appointments Clause requires 

that a principal officer must approve the U.S. Executive Branch agency's binding rules, requiring that a 

principal officer, approve any document that has a binding effect on the public.  Nor can Defendants on their 

own ignore or overrule court precedent interpreting and applying the Constitution and acts of Congress. See 

Hayburn's Case, 2 U.S. 409 (1792)  Furthermore, U.S. Executive Branch Agencies do not have the power under 

the Constitution to revise, ignore, overrule or stay decisions rendered by federal courts. The Defendants are 

repealing rules that are codified by U.S. Judicial Branch precedent, violating the separation-of-powers doctrine 

and unconstitutionally replace binding law with its policy choice.   

The Defendants have not defended their “interpretation” of the Controlled Substance Act or Health Care 

Fraud under Chevron, U.S.A., Inc. v. Nat. Res. Def. Council, Inc., 467 U.S. 837, 842-43 (1984). Not only is there 

no specific delegation in the Act, and not only is the Defendants interpretation foreclosed by the 

“unambiguously expressed intent” of Congress in the plain text of the Controlled Substance Act; therefore, the 

Defendants “red flag algorithms” are “procedurally defective.” Encino Motorcars, LLC v. Navarro, 579 U.S. 

211, 220 (2016) (quoting United States v. Mead Corp., 533 U.S. 218, 227 (2001)). Defendants DEA and HHS 

also lack Chevron deference which requires the courts defer to an agency interpretation of a statute that the 

agency administers when the statute is ambiguous and the interpretation is reasonable.  See Chevron, U.S.A., 

Inc. v. Nat. Res. Def. Council, Inc., 467 U.S. 837, 842-44 (1984).  But a court defers only if a statute is 

ambiguous after the court uses all the “traditional tools of statutory construction.” Id/ at 843 n.9; see Gen. 

Dynamics Land Sys., Inc. v. Cline, 540 U.S. 581, 600 (2004)(explaining that “deference to [an agency’s] 

statutory interpretation is called for only when the devices of judicial construction have been tried and found to 

yield no clear sense of congressional intent”).  A court may not rest on Chevron to avoid rigorous statutory 

analysis. Cf. Kisor v. Wilkie, 139 S. Ct. 2400, 2415 (2019) See Chevron, 467 U.S. at 843-844 (equating 

“reasonable” with the question of whether “the agency’s answer is based on a permissible construction of the 
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statute”).  To be reasonable, an interpretation must account for “the specific context in which [the] language is 

used” and “the broader context of the statute as a whole.” Robinson v. Shell Oil Co., 519 U.S. 337,341 (1997).  

Util. Air Regul. Grp. v. EPA, 573 U.S. 302, 321 (2014)(finding an agency interpretation unreasonable because it 

did not fit with the statute’s design and structure). 

In Linder v. U. S., "Direct control of medical practice in the states is beyond the power of the Federal 

government. Congress therefore, cannot directly restrict the professional judgment of the physician or interfere 

with its free exercise in the treatment of disease. Federal power is delegated, and its prescribed limits must not 

be transcended even though the end seems desirable."  The FOIA requests within Plaintiff Anand’s amended 

Complaint attempt to identify abuse of Federal power in Defendants’ attempts to stop even the legitimate 

treatment of pain in this country. In Hayman v. Galveston, "the right of a duly licensed physician to practice her 

profession is liberty and property within the meaning of the 14th Amendment to the Constitution." Without a 

DEA certificate, a physician will not be approved by insurance companies, cannot work for the Veterans 

Administration, medical facilities on Indian reservations, cruise ships, or even volunteer organizations like 

Doctors Without Borders. According to Minnesota ex rel Whipple v. Martinson, the statute exceeds the authority 

of the state in the exertion of its police power, in that it undertakes to regulate a lawful business in the manner 

prescribed in the statute, in violation of the 14th Amendment. By disenfranchising physicians (especially 

colored physicians) from DEA controlled substance prescribing certificates, the Federal government and 

Defendants attempted to prevent physicians who prescribe controlled medications from practicing medicine, 

therefore violating Plaintiff Anand’s 14th Amendment rights. 

Plaintiff Anand Requests 54(b) Motion for Re-Consideration of His Amended Complaint 

Because Of New Evidence Revealed by Solicitor General SCOTUS Arguments   

In general, “a court will grant a motion for consideration of an interlocutory order only when the movant 

demonstrates: (1) an intervening change in the law; (2) the discovery of new evidence not previously available; 

or (3) a clear error in the first order.” Stewart v. Panetta, 826 F. Supp. 2d 176, 177 (D.D.C. 2011)(quoting 

Zeigler v. Potter, 555 F.Supp.2d 126,129 (D.D.C. 2008)). Plaintiff Anand alleges discovery of new evidence not 

previously available with respect to revelations by Deputy Solicitor General Eric Feigin in U.S. Supreme Court 

oral arguments on March 1, 2022, in Ruan v. United States and Khan v. United States . 

Defendants are entrusted with certain information related to the performance of the occupational duties of 

Plaintiff Anand and other U.S. physicians. New facts and evidence regarding the HFPP and its partners 
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pertaining to their directing of a course medical treatments, as well as new germane legal arguments submitted 

to the U.S. Supreme Court in Ruan v. United States and Khan v. United States, by Deputy Solicitor General Eric 

Feigin have surfaced that were not previously known by Plaintiff Anand.   These revelations as revealed to 

SCOTUS by the Deputy Solicitor General pertain to the impending criminal trial in United States v. Anand. 

Plaintiff Anand exercised due diligence in discovering the material facts underlying his FOIA requests.  The 

new evidence requires consideration of Plaintiff Anand’s 54(b) motion concerning Plaintiff Anand’s amended 

Complaint.  

The disclosure of Defendants and/or BCBSA, Qlarant Health Integrity, HFPP statistical methods may: 1) 

facilitate health care research performed by researchers, 2) clarify, unsettled area of elements of legal statutes, 

and federal preemption dealing with controlled substance medications, 3) understand the HHS “Pill Mill Doctor 

Project”, on a per physician basis, with respect to total number of controlled substance pills prescribed, the 

number of controlled substance pills prescribed per patient, the total Morphine Milligram Equivalent (MME) 

prescribed nationally, MME per patient prescribed, MME prescribed per diagnostic disease (International 

Classification of Disease) state.  The documents requested by Plaintiff Anand in his amended Complaint also 

constitutes compulsory and timely materials denied to physician criminal defendants nationwide violating the 

due process of criminal trials particularly against physicians.  The requests for documents possessed by the 

Defendants concerning legal arguments by the United States Solicitor General Eric Feigin must be produced 

expeditiously pursuant to FOIA.  See United States v Presser, 844 F 2d 1275, 1283 (6th Cir 1988)  Furthermore, 

Fed R Crim P 16 (a)(1)(E)(i)-(iii) mandates disclosure of compulsory and timely materials “in time for its 

effective use at trial”. Impeachment evidence need not be exculpatory in the traditional sense of tending to 

negate guilt. Rather, such material deals with the credibility of witnesses.  The Supreme Court has defined 

impeachment material as ‘evidence favorable to an accused . . . so that, if disclosed and use effectively, it may 

make the difference between conviction and acquittal.’ United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. [667], 105 S.Ct. 3375, 

3380 [ 87 L.Ed.2d 481] (1985).  

 The Third Circuit stated in United States v. Higgs, 713 F.2d 39 (3rd Cir. 1983), and also in United States 

v. Starusko, 729 F.2d 256 (3rd Cir. 1984), that it believes the Brady doctrine is not violated if Brady material is 

disclosed in time for its "effective" use at trial. See Starusko, 729 F.2d at 262; Higgs, 713 F.2d at 44. 

In Starusko, however, the Third Circuit did indicate that in its view, there may be special circumstances when 

the Brady doctrine may require the disclosure of Jencks Act material before trial. In the Third Circuit's view, the 

situation could arise when the Jencks Act material truly is exculpatory of the charge against the defendant. See 
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Starusko, 729 F.2d at 262-65. The court implied however, that the Brady doctrine may require pre-trial 

disclosure in such a situation because of the due process foundation of the doctrine, that is, that it is 

fundamentally unfair of the prosecution to withhold from the defendant until trial material which seemingly 

does prove innocence and therefore, which could obviate the need for a trial altogether. The Third Circuit noted 

that a prosecutor who withholds such material most likely violates professional ethical canons.  

Based on information obtained from published US government documents (already presented as 

Exhibits within this FOIA litigation), the US Attorneys Office (USAO) is now utilizing a variety of criminal 

forensic tools, red flags and other indicators of drug diversion to litigate the full spectrum of drug diversion and/

or health care fraud matters, both independently and in partnership with USDOJ Civil and Criminal Divisions 

against Plaintiff Anand. The USDOJ and USAO also uses information from the “Pill Mill Doctor Project” 

which has vital information in its computerized databases of the “most likely drug seeking patients” as well as 

identified “bad actor” physicians.  Upon information or belief such vital information subject to production under 

FOIA Law was used against Plaintiff Anand by Defendants. 

USAOs receive many health care fraud referrals directly from investigative agencies and increasingly 

are developing cases in-house through data analytics. USAOs coordinate closely both internally, with AUSAs 

developing parallel cases with their civil or criminal colleagues, and with other USAOs, collaborating on 

investigations that sprawl across district borders. Since 2018, the USAOs for ten federal districts in six states 

have joined the Health Care Fraud (HCF) Unit in the Criminal Division’s Fraud Section (HCF Unit), as well as 

law enforcement partners at the FBI, HHS-OIG and DEA, to form a Strike Force, a joint law enforcement effort 

to identify and investigate health care fraud schemes, and to effectively and efficiently prosecute medical 

professionals and others involved in the illegal prescription and distribution of opioids.  The Consumer 

Protection Branch is advancing a number of U.S. Executive Branch Department priorities to combat the nation’s 

opioid crisis, pursuing wrongdoers throughout the entire opioid distribution chain, including pharmaceutical 

manufacturers, wholesale distributers, pharmacies, and health care providers.  

The Consumer Protection Branch is a leading member of the U.S. Executive Branch Department’s 

Prescription Interdiction and Litigation (PIL) Task Force established in February 2018 to combat the opioid 

crisis at every level of the distribution system. The Consumer Protection Branch is actively working on 

numerous criminal and civil investigations and litigation related to opioid manufacturers.  Using a variety of 

data sets and advanced analytics, the Consumer Protection Branch is advancing an effort to take all appropriate 

action against pharmacies, physicians, and health care providers fueling the diversion of prescription opioids. 

The Consumer Protection Branch has brought a number of civil injunctive and penalty actions under the 
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Controlled Substance Act to stop dangerous dispensing and prescribing conduct in advance of potential criminal 

prosecutions.  Since 2007, the HCF Unit has deployed data analytics combined with investigative intelligence. 

In 2018, the HCF Unit formed its own in-house data team, which now consists of eight analysts with deep 

experience in Medicare and Medicaid data analysis, as well as financial analysis, who identify egregious health 

care fraud and prescription opioid-related targets to ensure the HCF Unit and its partners efficiently identify the 

worst offenders. The concept and structure of the Data Analytics Team is regarded as ground-breaking for the 

Department. The team uses data to identify billing patterns, suspicious prescribing practices, and curious 

relationships between doctors and patients that signify high-risk targets. The investigations are then prosecuted 

by HCF Unit prosecutors or referred to USAOs and law enforcement partners in a “targeting package,” which 

includes data summaries and descriptions of why a pattern is suspect, such as submission of claims for dead 

beneficiaries, beneficiaries who live a great distance from the clinic they purportedly regularly attended in 

person, etc.  Plaintiff Anand requires the manner and method of “targeting packages” used by Defendants 

against himself as well as other physicians and healthcare providers.  Plaintiff Anand seeks all “targeting 

packages” utilized for his upcoming criminal trial United States v. Anand. 

In April 2018, Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) issued a final rule that requires plan 

sponsors to deny payments provided by individuals and entities on a preclusion list, rather than requiring the 

enrollment of providers. The preclusion list will include individuals or entities that (1) are revoked from 

Medicare, under a reenrollment bar, and the conduct that led to the revocation is detrimental to the best interests 

of Medicare or (2) have engaged in behavior for which they could have been revoked had they been enrolled in 

Medicare and the conduct that would have led to the revocation is detrimental to the best interests of Medicare.  

Upon information or belief Defendant HHS/CMS Medicare in partnership with Independence Blue Cross 

unlawfully conspired to disenfranchise Plaintiff Anand and revoke Plaintiff Anand’s ability to treat Medicare 

patients.  The amended Complaint will allow Plaintiff Anand to obtain further evidence of the aforementioned 

allegations. 

Plaintiff Anand also alleges that Independence Blue Cross, Blue Cross Blue Shield Association, and 

Qlarant Health Integrity engages in fraud against the Government pursuant to 18 U.S. Code § 371 which has 

two prongs, alike but for a single exception. The first, more frequently prosecuted, requires agreement, overt 

act, and an underlying federal criminal offense. The elements of the second prong, sometimes styled conspiracy 

to defraud the United States, do not require an underlying federal criminal offense. The elements of conspiracy 

to defraud the United States under 18 U.S.C. § 371 are: (1) an agreement of two or more persons; (2) to defraud 

the United States; and (3) an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy committed by one of the conspirators. 
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The “fraud covered by the statute reaches any conspiracy for the purpose of impairing, obstructing or 

defeating the lawful functions of any department of the Government” by “deceit, craft or trickery, or at least by 

means that are dishonest.”  The plot must be directed against the United States or some federal entity; a scheme 

to defraud the recipient of federal funds is not sufficient. The scheme may be designed to deprive the United 

States of money or property, but it need not be so; a plot calculated to frustrate the functions of an entity of the 

United States will suffice. 

Although often referred to as the exception for co-conspirator declarations, the Federal Rules of 

Evidence treats the matter within its definition of hearsay. Rule 801(d)(2)(E) of the Federal Rules provides that 

an out-of-court statement is not hearsay if “[t]he statement is offered against a party and is ... a statement by a 

co-conspirator of a party during the course and in furtherance of the conspiracy.” For an out-of-court statement 

to be admissible under the Rule, the government must show by a preponderance of the evidence that (1) a 

conspiracy existed, (2) the speaker and the defendants were co-conspirators, and (3) the statement was made in 

furtherance of the conspiracy. 

Drug Enforcement Agency Deputy Assistant Administrator Diversion Control Division, Thomas 

Prevoznik has sent letters to physicians including Dr. Walter Wrenn, who was targeted by Blue Cross Blue 

Shield, stating that “every prescription for a controlled substance must be based on a determination by an 

individual practitioner.” United States vs. Moore.  Furthermore, Prevoznik states that “federal regulations do not 

define the term legitimate medical purpose nor do they set forth the standards of medical practice.  It is up to 

each DEA registered practitioner authorized by DEA to do so, to treat patients according to his or her 

professional medical judgement.”  The letter goes on to state that “Federal law and DEA regulations do not 

impose a specific quantitative minimum or maximum limit on the amount of medication that a practitioner may 

prescribe on a single prescription or the duration of treatment intended for a particular patient.” 71 FR 52716. 

Qlarant Health Integrity, and the factors utilized by its artificial intelligence as testified by Qlarant employee, 

Kevin McCash, directly violate and contradict Federal Controlled Substance Act Law as well as documentation 

from the Drug Enforcement Agency to physicians.    

The Defendants accumulate evidence from various anonymous sources against physicians and other 

healthcare providers during criminal trials. The physicians or healthcare providers have not been given the 

chance to cross-examine the HFPP partners who have contributed to the accumulated data.  In the absence of 

the criminal defendants being able to cross examine HFPP and their partners, such evidence is considered 

testimonial hearsay, and hence inadmissible into evidence by a Court.  Additionally the legal authority of  

Crawford does not allow for cross-examination of a surrogate when the evidence in question is testimonial. 
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Thus, surrogate cross-examination of HFPP and each of their partners is not allowed. HFPP and each partner 

must be cross-examined in criminal trials against healthcare providers. HFPP or any members or partners who 

seek protective orders so to avoid cross-examination, must void any data, or evidence that such entity or HFPP 

itself, contributed to HFPP. HFPP’s demonstrative evidence are prepared for litigation purposes, well before any 

theory of the case against the doctor is formed.  

Pursuant to the 5th U.S. Constitutional amendment and 6th U.S. Constitutional amendment Confrontation 

Clause, HFPP’s demonstrative trial evidence is thus testimonial.  In evaluating prejudice against the defendant, 

the court must consider, among other things, the centrality of the evidence to the case and its importance in 

establishing the elements of the crime or the motive or intent of the defendant; the probative value and 

reliability of the secondary or substitute evidence; the nature and probable weight of factual inferences or other 

demonstrations and kinds of proof allegedly lost to the accused; the probable effect on the jury from absence of 

the evidence, including dangers of unfounded speculation and bias that might result to the defendant if adequate 

presentation of the case requires explanation about the missing evidence. Due process represents a profound 

attitude of fairness between man and man and more particularly between the individual and government. Due 

process underlies all of the criminal-related provisions of the Bill of Rights. Due process embodies both the 

Plaintiff Anand’s procedural and substantive rights with respect to the impending criminal trial of United States 

v. Anand. If the substantive rights of criminal defendant Anand are removed or altered in a corrupt or evil 

manner, the perfection of process will ratify a corrupt result.   

The U.S. Department of Health & Human Services Office of Inspector General produced a comprehensive 

evaluation report of Qlarant/ Health Integrity/ NBI MEDIC called, The MEDIC Produced Some Positive Results 

but More Could be Done to Enhance its Effectiveness by Daniel R. Levinson, Inspector General, 

OEI-03-17-00310, July 2018. In the report, OIG states that the MEDIC (Qlarant/Health Integrity) also conducts 

projects to identify high-risk providers. For example, in 2016, CMS instructed the MEDIC to conduct a data 

analysis project to identify prescribers of Schedule II drugs with irregular billing patterns compared to their 

peers. In response, the MEDIC developed its Outlier Prescribers of Schedule II Controlled Substances project to 

score providers that prescribe Schedule II drugs as high, medium, or low risk.  

MEDIC can create “criminal health law” separate from U.S. Congress. MEDIC can modify the 

identification criteria of its algorithms to ensure a steady supply of U.S. physician criminal referrals.  OIG 

documents that the number of high-risk providers identified by the MEDIC more than tripled from 1,281 

providers in 2014 to 3,903 in 2017.  In addition to the Outlier Prescribers project, in 2017 CMS instructed the 
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MEDIC to complete an opioid-focused Schedule II drugs data analysis project. In response, the MEDIC 

developed the Opioid Analgesic Schedule II Controlled Substances project to specifically score providers that 

prescribe Schedule II opioids. 

The MEDIC has conducted additional opioid-related projects. The TRIO model in PLATO identifies 

prescribers with a high risk of facilitating beneficiary drug abuse by prescribing a combination of carisoprodol 

and alprazolam, with either hydrocodone or oxycodone—one of the most widely abused combinations of drugs.  

Through this process USDOJ and OIG can arrest and prosecute U.S. physicians that prescribe certain 

combinations of medications, that separate from U.S. Congress, the USDOJ, HHS and HFPP have determined 

to be “criminal combinations” of medications. 

Another example of the MEDIC’s opioid-related work is a project that identifies prescribers who may be 

culpable in the overdose death of a beneficiary by comparing the date of death with the date of opioid 

prescriptions.  The software then indicates or determines to a high degree of certainty a causal relation between 

a prescription of a controlled substance and subsequent overdose death.  As with pharmacies, the MEDIC 

conducts a quarterly Prescriber Spike Analysis, which identifies prescribers who meet a dollar threshold in one 

of four categories of drugs, including Schedule II drugs. The Prescriber Spike Analysis reviews various 

databases for additional criteria and identifies outlier prescribers for further review and possible investigation. 

Despite an increase in opioid-related data analysis projects, the MEDIC started fewer investigations and 

referred fewer cases related to opioids from 2014 to 2017.  From 2014 to 2017, the MEDIC initiated more data 

analysis projects related to opioids, but the number of opioid-related investigations the MEDIC conducted 

decreased. The number of opioid-related case referrals increased from 2014 through 2016 before dropping 

sharply in 2017.   

In response to a mandate from Congress, OIG evaluated the MEDIC’s efforts to identify, combat, and 

prevent fraud in Medicare Part C and Part D quoting, “While the MEDIC’s reported recoveries resulted in a 

positive return on investment ($3 in recoveries for every $1 invested in 2017), CMS has no measures that 

specifically assess the MEDIC’s effectiveness. Without specific measures, it is unclear how CMS assesses the 

MEDIC’s effectiveness in fighting fraud.”  Quoting OIG, “Through its increased proactive analyses, the 

MEDIC was able to identify thousands of high-risk leads involving drugs, including opioids.  The MEDIC is 

required to conduct investigations when it receives allegations of fraud from external sources or proactively 

identifies potential fraud. A MEDIC investigation is performed to determine the facts and the magnitude of 

potential fraud and may include a review of claims, beneficiary medical records, prescriptions, or cost reports; 
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and conducting interviews. A MEDIC investigation is intended to gather enough information to make a referral 

to law enforcement or recommend to CMS an administrative action.  Upon information or belief, Independence 

Blue Cross initiated a MEDIC investigation against Plaintiff Anand. 

There is a preponderance of evidence that Independence Blue Cross has retaliated against Plaintiff Anand 

for advocating and filing grievances on behalf of his patients.  Plaintiff Anand has been and is currently in 

extensive communication with numerous U.S. physician associations and U.S. physicians like Dr. Joseph Zolot 

(United States v. Zolot Criminal Action No. 11-10070-PBS) and Dr. Dralves Edwards (Dralves Gene Edwards, 

M.D. v. Blue Cross Blue Shield of Texas 03-06872-B) who have expressed similar retaliation, harassment and 

bullying by Blue Cross Blue Shield, including Independence Blue Cross, and other health insurance company 

affiliates of the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association network.  The intentional and unlawful actions of the Blue 

Cross Blue Shield Association network against physicians nationwide have forced Plaintiff Anand and other 

physicians to file complaints with the United Nations Human Rights Council. Currently one of the Human 

Rights Committees at Council of Organizations is investigating all evidence that has been collected by U.S. 

physician associations and U.S. patient groups regarding the regulatory capture of the U.S. health insurance 

market, restraint of trade, and the organized persecution of physicians and their patients, by the Blue Cross Blue 

Shield Association as well as its member organizations including Independence Blue Cross. 

Independence Blue Cross (IBC) admitted to the Eastern District Court of Pennsylvania on January 20, 2021 

in Anand v. Independence Blue Cross (ECF 12), that the true origin of the dispute with Plaintiff Anand centers 

around, “concerns about how and why he prescribed controlled substances”. Following this crucial admission 

by IBC, Plaintiff Anand filed on 03/10/2021, a motion (ECF 19) for filing of additional and supplemental 

pleadings against IBC pursuant to F.R.C.P. Rule 15 and requested initial disclosure from IBC pursuant to 

F.R.C.P. Rule 26.  IBC’s unlawful “modus operandi” of targeting physicians was described in Howard Bloom, 

D.C. v. Indep. Blue Cross 340 F. Supp. 3d 516 (E.D. Pa. 2018) and is comparable to IBC’s unlawful actions 

against Anand (and also Philadelphia physician, Dr. Walter Wrenn, who appeared during oral arguments ECF 

43, 44 presided by Hon. Judge Kenney to confirm IBC’s unlawful analogous “modus operandi” against Dr. 

Wrenn).  Plaintiff Anand submits to the Court that he personally attended a Pennsylvania Chiropractor 

Association (see Pa. Chiropractic Ass'n v. Blue Cross Blue Shield Ass'n) meeting at the Ground Round 

Restaurant at 735 Middletown Blvd, Langhorne, PA 19047 in 2015 where Dr. Jason Lazaroff, gave a speech 

describing how IBC targeted Dr. Lazaroff and broke up Dr. Lazaroff’s marriage and left him impoverished 

living on a friends couch.  Dr. Howard Bloom was also at this meeting and warned Plaintiff Anand about IBC’s 
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tactics against physicians and the malignant use of law enforcement by IBC against doctors as described in 

Howard Bloom, D.C. v. Indep. Blue Cross. 

In Anand v. Independence Blue Cross, Plaintiff Anand alleged that he was in possession of evidence that 

Independence Blue Cross provided materially false evidence to the US Department of Justice (USDOJ). 

Plaintiff Anand also alleged evidence of discrepancies between spreadsheets provided by Independence Blue 

Cross to the USDOJ and U.S. Internal Revenue Service via false 1099’s. Plaintiff Anand alleges that 

Independence Blue Cross targeted and conspired with Qlarant Health Integrity after he complained about 

Independence Blue Cross to the Pennsylvania Insurance Department. Plaintiff Anand was directed by 

employees of Pennsylvania Insurance Department, Ronald Laird and Leslie Pierce to assist his sick patients 

without worry of retaliation by IBC which IBC ignored and subsequently initiated criminal proceedings against 

Plaintiff Anand.  See Neil Anand and Institute of Advanced Medicine and Surgery v. Pennsylvania Department 

of Insurance, (Office of Open Records Docket No: AP 2022-0319). 

According to the MEDIC Statement of Work, a case exists when the MEDIC has substantiated a fraud 

allegation through an investigation and made a referral to law enforcement. The MEDIC identifies cases of 

suspected fraud and makes referrals of all such cases to OIG, regardless of dollar amounts or subject matter. If a 

case has been referred to OIG, it has 60 calendar days to accept the referral, refer the case to the Department of 

Justice (DOJ), or reject the case. If there is no response from OIG within 60 calendar days following the 

referral, the MEDIC can refer the case to the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) and/or any other 

investigative agency with interest in the case. The MEDIC closes a case once all appropriate administrative 

actions have been considered or implemented by CMS and law enforcement have declined the case, if the case 

was referred.  Certain allegations are referred directly to OIG without a MEDIC investigation. These are called 

immediate advisements and include complaints by current or former employees of a suspected provider or plan 

sponsors and/or their subcontractors.  The MEDIC is required to use the PLATO modeling system to identify 

fraud, waste, and abuse patterns. PLATO incorporates a real-time predictive-modeling fraud detection process 

according to the NBI MEDIC. From OIG’s request for MEDIC information, OIG determined what measures the 

MEDIC has developed to help identify high-risk pharmacies and high-risk providers. OIG summarized the 

number of high-risk pharmacies and high-risk providers that the MEDIC identified for 2014 through 2017. 

According to OIG from 2015 to 2017, the number of complaints referred to plan sponsors soared from 0 to 

5,049.  Plaintiff Anand is seeking all information pertaining to complaints from plan sponsors to Defendant 

HHS/OIG.  Plaintiff Anand submits to the Court that his amended Complaint will allow him to obtain this 

crucial information. 
 42



Defendants Duty To Preserve Impeachment Information 

Plaintiff Anand is also requesting that this Court GRANT a preservation hold via his proposed amended 

Complaint of impeachment information to prevent spoliation of evidence.  To determine whether dismissal of 

Plaintiff Anand’s criminal indictment in United States v. Anand is warranted due to spoliation of evidence, there 

are three separate tests. First, if the evidence will clearly exculpate the defendant, failure to preserve- whether 

done in good or bad faith – violates due process. Arizona v. Youngblood, 488 U.S. 51, 57, 109 S. Ct. 333, 102 L. 

Ed. 2d 281 (1988) (citing Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S. Ct. 1194, 10 L. Ed. 2d 215 (1963)). Second, if 

the destroyed evidence will only potentially exculpate the defendant, the accused must show that the 

government destroyed the evidence in bad faith. Id. at 58. Third, if the government has destroyed evidence that 

has no exculpatory value whatsoever, there is no due process violation. 

Several other legal authorities support Plaintiff Anand’s preservation hold pending his impending criminal 

trial, United States v. Anand.  In United States v. Cooper, 983 F.3d 928, 929 (9th Cir. 1992), the DEA destroyed 

a series of vats that were used to manufacture dextran sulfate which the trial Court and the 9th Circuit 

determined was done in “bad faith” because it knew it would be evidence in the case. In United States v. Bohl, 

25 F.3d 904 (10th Cir. 1994) the FAA destroyed radio towers that were built out of non-compliant material after 

the FAA tested the material which the Court determined was done in bad faith and prejudice the defendant.  In 

Stuart v. State, 907 F.2d 783 (Idaho 1995), the trial Court determined that a jail phone call recording between 

the defendant and his sister which was destroyed was “potentially exculpatory” and was destroyed in bad faith. 

In United States v. Elliott, 83 F. Supp 2d 637 (E.D. Va. 1999) the DEA destroyed “materials believed to be used 

to make methamphetamine” after testing the material. The trial Court determined: “Where the law enforcement 

officer acted in a manner which was either contrary to applicable policies and the common sense assessments of 

evidence reasonably to be expected of law enforcement officers or was so unmindful of both as to constitute a 

reckless disregard of both, there is a showing of objective bad faith sufficient to establish the bad faith 

requirement of the Trombetta/Youngblood test. Id. at 647-48.  

Other cases include State v. McGrone, 798 F. Supp. 2d 637 (E.D. Va. 1999) the state destroyed the clothing 

of a defendant who was shot in the leg. Defendant claims that he was fleeing police not lunging at him and the 

gunpowder residue on his leg would prove this point. In dismissing the case the Court held, “[w]here the State’s 

actions absolutely prevent a defendant in a criminal case from presenting proof on this issue, we will consider 

the requirement of bad faith to have been proven”. Id. at 523.   In United States v. Yevakpor, 419 F. Supp 2d 

242, 244-45 (N.D.N.Y. 2006), the Government provided incomplete evidence during discovery and admitted 
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that they selectively chose portions of the evidence to save and portions to destroy. The “evidence” at issue were 

three one-minute video segments that showed the defendant engaging in allegedly suspicious acts. The Court 

determined that the selection of what to preserve and what to destroy constituted bad faith.  

Violations of law enforcement policy are suggestive of bad faith or knowledge of the exculpatory nature of 

the evidence may show “bad faith”.   Building a case for “bad faith” seems to rest on three factors (1) was it 

immediately apparent that the evidence was potentially exculpatory, (2) was the destruction in accordance with 

a reasonable policy by law enforcement, (3) was the prosecution aware of the defense use for the information, 

(4) did the destruction of the evidence bolster the Government’s theory.  As Courts seem to find it important that 

a criminal defendant requested preservation of all evidence despite the obvious obligation to do so under Brady 

v. Maryland, Plaintiff Anand instantly requests that this Court GRANT a preservation hold on all requested 

FOIA information within Plaintiff Anand’s amended Complaint.   

Plaintiff/Criminal Defendant Anand represents to Defendants and this Court that an incomplete response to 

specific FOIA requests not only deprives criminal defendant Anand of certain evidence, but also has the effect 

of representing to criminal defendant Anand that the evidence does not exist, and that reliance on a misleading 

representation, criminal defendant Anand might abandon lines of independent investigation, defenses, or trial 

strategies that criminal defendant Anand otherwise would have pursued.  

Plaintiff Anand Will Suffer Irreparable Harm Due Denial Of An Amended Complaint 

Plaintiff Anand will also be unable to recover damages from Defendants, who enjoys sovereign immunity. 5 

U.S.C. § 702 (providing for relief “other than money damages”). This renders Plaintiff Anand’s injuries or 

harms “per se” irreparable. See Feinerman v. Bernardi, 558 F. Supp. 2d 36, 51 (D.D.C. 2008) (unrecoverable 

harms are “per se” irreparable); Smoking Everywhere, Inc. v. FDA, 680 F. Supp. 2d 62, 77 n.19 (D.D.C. 2010) 

(similar); see also Whitman-Walker Clinic, Inc., 485 F. Supp. at 64-65 (“‘[W]here economic loss will be 

unrecoverable, such as in a case against a Government defendant where sovereign immunity will bar recovery, 

economic loss can be irreparable’ even if it would not wipe the business out.” (quoting Everglades Harvesting 

& Hauling, Inc. v. Scalia, 427 F. Supp. 3d 101, 115 (D.D.C. 2019), and citing additional cases)).  In addition to 

being “beyond remediation,” these losses are irreparable because they are “certain and great” for the reasons 

detailed supra. Whitman-Walker Clinic, Inc., 485 F. Supp. 3d at 56 (quoting Chaplaincy of Full Gospel 

Churches v. England, 454 F.3d 290, 297 (D.C. Cir. 2006), and Wisconsin Gas Co. v. FERC, 758 F.2d 669, 674 

(D.C. Cir. 1985)).  
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Defendants harms against Plaintiff Anand are “both certain and great; . . . actual and not theoretical and of 

such imminence that there is a clear and present need for equitable relief.” Olu-Cole v. Haynes Pub. Charter 

Sch., 930 F.3d 519, 529 (D.C. Cir. 2019) “These harms from the forced diversion of resources are similar to 

those recognized as irreparable harm in other suits,” District of Columbia v. USDA, 444 F. Supp. 3d 1, 42 

(D.D.C. 2020), and they far exceed the showing required here. 

The United States District Court for the District of Columbia has previously recognized that denial of 

Plaintiff Anand’s amended Complaint could constitute irreparable harm. E.g., Whitman-Walker Clinic, Inc., 485 

F. Supp. 3d at 58 (“Because of the significant financial and operational harms the health-provider Plaintiffs will 

suffer on account of the 2020 Rule—and the consequent, well-established threat to their ability to deliver timely 

and effective care to their patients—the Court finds that their asserted injuries clear the irreparable-harm 

threshold.”). Texas Children’s Hosp. v. Burwell, 76 F. Supp. 3d 224 (D.D.C. 2014); see also League of Women 

Voters v. Newby, 838 F.3d 1, 9 (D.C. Cir. 2016) (finding irreparable harm when challenged action “ma[de] it 

more difficult for [organizations] to accomplish their primary mission”).  

All in all, Plaintiff Anand and other U.S. physicians will suffer unrecoverable future harm which is of such a 

degree, severity, and ‘imminence that there is a clear and present need for equitable relief to prevent’ it.” Id. 

(quoting Wisconsin Gas Co. v. FERC, 758 F.2d 669, 674 (D.C. Cir. 1985)). “Courts have also recognized that 

such [reputational] harm . . . can constitute irreparable harm sufficient to qualify for a preliminary injunction.” 

Everglades Harvesting, 427 F. Supp. 3d at 116.   

Conclusion 

The Defendants’ software criminal forensic tools uses plausibility evidentiary standard that 

misrepresents the statutory, beyond a reasonable doubt, criminal evidence standard. A public/private partnership 

named HFPP (Healthcare Fraud Prevention Partnership), selects physicians based on race, gender, age, financial 

assets, real estate, and nation of origin as a suspect class, preventing those physicians from practicing medicine 

in a race or gender neutral manner by coordinating selective enforcement of the Controlled Substance Act. The 

Defendants, HFPP, Qlarant, and BCBSA joint enterprise computer algorithms categorize age, race and nation of 

origin as the “suspect class” which violates the 14th Amendment Equal Protection Clause of the US 

Constitution. The selection process generates probable cause, to induce criminal proceedings, against the 

“suspect class,” via the wrong standard of evidence. The software uses plausibility evidentiary standard that 

misrepresents the statutory, beyond a reasonable doubt, criminal evidence standard. The pattern amounts to a 

custom or practice amounting to a policy of deliberate indifference to constitutional rights of physicians who 
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were classified as members of the suspect class. The pattern amounts to cause violations of international law 

and human rights for sick, infirm, and disabled human patients. The members of the suspect class experience a 

common nucleus of operative facts, namely, an improper style of an investigation that violated the Equal 

Protection Due Process of the 14th U.S Constitutional Amendment, and the 5th U.S. Constitutional Amendment 

Due Process. These constitutional injuries among others are the actual and proximate cause of commercial or 

tort injury to suffering patients and their physicians.   

Under the “State Involvement Doctrine” such behavior is improper because the software scheme that 

violates the 14th Amendment, Equal Protection Clause of the U.S. constitution. The software data analytic 

services or data is sold to HFPP, for cash or in kind data information. The HFPP uses the data analytics used to 

manufactured probable cause to induce, and coordinate criminal proceedings via an improper standard of 

evidence. Such behavior occurred in violation of 5 C.F.R. § 2635.501 - 503 (Subpart E - Impartiality in 

Performing Official Duties) The Defendants’ created a suspect class comprising of physicians who treat patients 

suffering from the diseases of chronic pain, and/or substance use disorders. Pursuant to Robinson v. California, 

Supreme Court of the United States, 1962 370 U.S. 660, 82 S. Ct. 1417; it was improper to qualify a person as a 

criminal, simply because of the medical status of the person. Statistical analysis by Doctors of Courage of the 

selection process by analyzing indicted physicians reveals a classification selection process that has produced a 

disproportionate number of physicians of African American origin (i.e. physicians of minority racial origin), 

colored brown skinned physicians and elderly physicians (old age) for criminal investigation and prosecution. 

Health and Human Services (HHS), Drug Enforcement Agency (DEA), and the HFPP public private joint 

enterprise’s, algorithms almost exclusively target older physicians, wealthy physicians, dark skinned colored 

physicians, or independent physicians (as compared to large physician groups).  

Classifications based on racial classifications or nation of origin are inherently unequal and violate the 

Equal Protection Clause of the 5th and 14th Amendments. See Brown v. Board of Education. 347 U.S 483 

(1954)).   A potential reason for this discriminatory practice is that Defendants HHS and DEA, consider colored 

or older physicians to be disposable and because there is less worry that there will be a public outcry by the 

general population for the targeting of dark skinned minority physicians and/or elderly physicians. A potential 

reason that Defendants HHS and DEA target wealthy physicians is to maximize return on investment (ROI). A 

potential reason that Defendants HHS and DEA target individual physicians or small medical entities is that 

these smaller entities lack the financial resources for proper legal defense, allowing the USDOJ to achieve 

“easy” convictions regardless of the innocence or guilt of its victims. The targeting of individual, small, and 
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upstart health entities by the Defendants allows their larger healthcare partners (i.e. private members of HFPP 

and the Defendants’ joint enterprise) to eliminate competition, restrain trade, flourish and monopolize the U.S. 

healthcare market. The DEA and HHS “physician selection process” discriminates based on age, race and nation 

of origin.   

Pursuant to the American Disability Act (ADA), patients whose physical and /or mental functions are 

impaired, belong to a disabled class.  Generally, those of the disabled medical status lack curative treatments. 

The chronically disabled patients are among those patients that rely on chronic, DEA scheduled controlled 

substance medications than, patients suffering from acute painful injuries.   The policies of Defendants, HHS/

CMS/OIG, DEA, HFPP, Blue Cross Blue Shield and Qlarant, disproportionately impacts those patients who are 

protected under the ADA.  Plaintiff Anand in his amended Complaint seeks from the Defendants: 1) identifying 

the specific policy or practice at issue, 2) methods of establishing adversity/harm, 3) methods of establishing 

significant disparity, and 4) methods of establishing actual and proximate causation.  Should a disparate 

discrimination be found, the U.S. Department of Justice has a cause of action to eliminate the discrimination 

under § 602 in Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964.  

U.S. Attorney Office Prosecutors know or should have known of outcome uncertainty inherent in the 

Defendants, HHS/CMS/OIG, DEA, HFPP, and Qlarant mathematical algorithms used in speeding, coordinating 

and strengthening convictions of healthcare providers. The computer algorithms and data analytic “targeting 

packages” of Defendants, as well as the validity and reliability testing of Defendants criminal forensic tools are 

withheld from criminal defense trial attorneys. This information at either pre-trial advocacy or during a criminal 

trial would have impeached testimony based on novel ideas which were/are essential to the government's case in 

chief. Plaintiff Anand alleges that Defendants in joint partnership with HFPP, GDIT, Qlarant, Blue Cross Blue 

Shield engage in the policing of healthcare fraud and controlled substance diversion etc.  The joint partnership 

shares electronic databases of information, and where the evidence is held by a single member or “law 

enforcement” arm of a single partner, that knowledge should be imputed to the prosecution broadly and such 

information is subject to FOIA or Privacy Act Requests (also within Plaintiff Anand’s amended Complaint). 

Plaintiff Anand and other physicians argue that ‘our judicial system ought not to be helpless to protect and 

vindicate the victims of witch hunts’. "The greatest dangers to liberty lurk in insidious encroachment by men of 

zeal, well-meaning but without understanding."  The Salem Witch Trials, like current present day opioid trials, 

were based not on lynch mob action, but on formal trials based on ‘expert witnesses’ testimony. In the American 

colonies, highly educated people led the mania, instead of restraining it. The Salem witch hunt began when a 
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physician unable to relieve the apparently hysterical symptoms of a local minister's daughter, told the father that 

the girls ‘were under the evil hand.’   

The U.S. Judicial Branch has the obligation, and the responsibility to stop the flagrant use of abuse of U.S. 

Executive Branch power to regulate the practice of medicine through selective mass criminalization of 

healthcare providers. The area of pain management arguably involves two-thirds of America's population. In 

Parlton v. U.S., "the public interest that a result be reached which promotes a well-ordered society is foremost in 

every criminal proceeding. That interest is entrusted to our [Supreme Court] consideration and protection."  In 

Sherman v. U.S., the Federal Courts have an "obligation to set their face against enforcement of the law by 

lawless means or means that violate rationally vindicated standards of justice." At stake is the integrity of the 

process. It is the responsibility of the Court to protect our citizenry from such prostitution of the law. To do 

otherwise would undermine the Court's standing as administrators of justice. If the acts of the authorities are so 

reprehensible, the problem transcends the individual defendant. The Courts would become corrupted by a 

process that is the fruit of corrupt government methodology.  As stated in U.S. v. Russell, by Justice Rehnquist, 

“we may some day be presented with a situation in which the conduct of law enforcement agents is so 

outrageous that due process principles would absolutely bar the government from invoking judicial process to 

obtain a conviction.”  In Greene v. U.S., government involvement in the operation of an illegal act precludes 

conviction. In Olmstead v. U.S., decency, security and liberty alike demand that government officials be 

subjected to the same rules of conduct that are commands to the citizen. Government teaches by example. If the 

government becomes a lawbreaker it breeds contempt for the law. It breeds anarchy. To declare that the 

government may commit crimes in order to secure a conviction would bring terrible retribution.   

 For all the above aforementioned reasons, Plaintiff Anand prays for relief and respectfully submits that 

this Court reconsider and GRANT Plaintiff Anand’s motion to allow Plaintiff Anand’s amended Complaint 

(ECF 31), pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 54(b) which provides that “any order…that adjudicates 

fewer than all the claims or the rights and liabilities of fewer than all the parties…may be revised at any time 

before the entry of a judgement adjudicating all the claims and all the parties’ rights and liabilities.” Fed. R. Civ. 

Pro. 54(b).   

Respectfully Submitted, 
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/s/ Neil Anand 

Neil Anand 

April 26, 2022 
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